
Line Zone Page # Section # Section Title Paragraph # Question / Comment Answer

1 All N/A N/A N/A N/A

Please confirm that offerors can request and obtain a 

debrief on Zone 1 bids so that offerors can make 

appropriate improvements in the submissions for other 

zones.

The Zone 1 contract award process will be 
completed prior to issuing the BMO Phase II 
Solicitations. 

2 All N/A N/A N/A N/A

Please confirm that GSA will allow sufficient time for 

offerors to prepare up to five (5) separate proposal 

responses if they will be submitting bids in multiple 

zones. Providing at least 60‐90 days would be helpful.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

3 All N/A N/A N/A N/A

We understand that GSA intends to issue final 

solicitations for Zones 2‐6 separately as independent 

bids, which will result in a separate set of contracts for 

each Zone. Will GSA consider alternatives for firms 

submitting on more than one Zone? For example:  

Several of the Sections 1 and 2 documents can be 

replicated in all volumes; please consider allowing 

offerors to remove any zonal references on those 

documents to ease integration into multiple zonal 

responses. For past performance covering multiple 

zones, consider allowing offerors to use the same client 

forms for each Zone to reduce the burden on clients 

that may otherwise have to complete up to five 

separate forms (e.g., allowing multiple zones/RFP 

numbers to be listed on the form, a copy of which 

would be included for each relevant zonal response).

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

4 All 125‐126 L.10.4

Section 4 – 

Price/Number of 

Copies, Paper 

Copies, Electronic 

Copies, Submittal All

Is this meant to be a stand‐alone section, providing 

instructions for the volumes to be submitted; not just 

the price volume?

Thank you for your comment. Section 4 of the Draft 
Solicitation should involve price. This is unclear 
and will be corrected in the Final RFP.

5 All 125 L.10.4

Section 4 – 

Price/Paper Copies

3rd and 4th 

bullets

Please clarify whether Offerors can include all four 

sections in a single binder, separated by tabs. Or are 

Sections 1‐3 to be in one combined binder with Section 

4 Price to be in a separate stand‐alone binder?

All four sections (1-General Information, 2-
Responsibility, 3-Technical Experience, 4-Price) 
may be in a single binder and shall be labeled and 
separated by Section Number and Title. Per L.10 
of the Draft Solicitation, pricing information shall be 
included in Section 4 only. 

6 All N/A N/A

Past Performance 

Survey General

Please confirm that each of the different Zones will use 

the same Past Performance Survey form, with the only 

difference being the Solicitation number in the header.

This is correct; however, GSA may adjust this form 
prior to posting the final RFP based on industry 
feedback.

7 All N/A N/A

Past Performance 

Survey General

For past performance covering multiple zones, consider

allowing offerors to use the same client forms for each 

Zone to reduce the burden on clients that may 

otherwise have to complete up to five separate forms 

(e.g., allowing multiple zones/RFP numbers to be listed 

on the form, a copy of which would be included for 

each relevant zonal response).

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

8 All N/A N/A

Relevant Project 

Experience General

Please confirm that each of the different Zones will use 

the same Relevant Project Experience form, with the 

only difference being the Solicitation number in the 

header.

This is correct; however, GSA may adjust this form 
prior to posting the final RFP based on industry 
feedback.

9 All 1

General 

Instructions

Relevant Project 

Experience 2

Please confirm that Offerors submitting bids on both 

O&M and FSS services can use a single form to cover all 

appropriate services in both categories.

This is correct; however, GSA may adjust this form 
prior to posting the final RFP based on industry 
feedback.

10 All 4

Description of 

Services

Relevant Project 

Experience Details Word Limit

For firms submitting a single form that covers both 

O&M and FSS services, would GSA consider expanding 

the word limitations to at least 2,000 words to allow 

firms sufficient space to address all the services that 

fall under both these categories?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

11 6 13 B.1.3 Contract Type One

Is the FSSI BMO replacing (or duplicating) the GSA 

Schedule 03FAC contract?

GSA's Schedule 03FAC and BMO solutions are 
two separate contracts containing different  vendor 
requirements  that target different customer needs.  
Customers will make the determination which tool 
(BMO, 03FAC, etc) best meets those needs. 

12 6 13 B.1.3 Contract Type One

Is the FSSI BMO contract open to all Federal agencies, 

similar to the 03FAC contract?

Yes, all federal agencies will have ability to 
purchase from BMO vehicle 

13 6 13 B.1.3 Contract Type One

Does the FSSI BMO duplicate the ESCO contracts in the 

HVAC‐related service areas?

While HVAC services are included under the 
scope of BMO, Energy Savings Performance 
Contracts (ESPCs) are inherently different in 
structure and function than the BMO solution which 
is a maintenance contract. 

14 6 17 B.3.4 Travel One

Does an offeror have to service the entire Zone 6 to be 

on the FSSI BMO?

Yes, successful offerors must be capable of 
providing service coverage  to all locations within 
in each Zone for which you
 wish to provide a proposal.

Building Maintenance & Operations (BMO) Phase II Industry Day Series Questions & Answers



15 6 17 B.3.4 Travel One

Can an offeror add the travel costs into our overhead 

rates? If so, how will this affect our current GSA 

Schedule 03FAC contract?

Travel costs should not be built into a company's 
overhead rates. Overhead, G&A, other costs, and 
profit (as a percentage) shall remain fixed for the 
life of the contract. Please refer to Section M.6 - 
Price of the Solicitation for more details.  
Regarding your Schedule 03FAC Contract, there 
should be no impact on your Schedules rates. 
Please check with your GSA Schedule Contracting 
Officer to confirm. 

16 6 17 B.3.4 Travel One

How do we handle travel costs for subcontractors? 

What is the approval process

Privity of contract is between the government and 
the prime contractor.  Please refer to Section B.3.4 
of the Draft Solicitation. Any travel costs has to 
have prior approval by the OCO. Therefore, 
subcontractor travel costs, should they exist, are 
not to affect the agreed upon prices, terms, and 
conditions between the government and the prime 
contractor for the BMO contract. 

17 6 18 B.3.4 Subcontracting One

Will approved GSA Mentor‐Protégé Program teams 

given a bid preference?

There is not any additional evaluation credit for 
approved GSA Mentor-Protégé Program teams.

18 6 19 C.3

Scope/Requireme

nts One

How are new BMO‐related services such as smart 

buildings being handled?

Smart Buildings and other BAS systems fall under 
the Building Management Services service 
category. Work associated with this service 
category should only relate to the service and 
management of such systems. Any products 
associated with smart buildings would be classified 
as an Other Direct Cost (ODC). 

19 6 19 C.3

Scope/Requireme

nts One

What is the limitation of work that can be performed 

by subcontractors?

Offerors must be able to demonstrate, as 
prescribed in Section M - Evaluation Factors for 
Award of the Draft Solicitation, the company has 
successfully performed (in-house) and/or managed 
(through a subcontractor)  the proposed services 
as a prime contractor. For small businesses please 
see FAR 52.219-14 Limitations on Subcontracting.   

20 6 29 C.8.15

Computerized 

Maintenance 

Management 

System (CMMS) One What are the skill sets?

This section is based on the definition for the 
CMMS system. Should specific skill sets  be 
required for this service to be provided, the OCO 
will define the needs at the task order level.

21 6 29 C.8.15

Computerized 

Maintenance 

Management 

System (CMMS) One What is the NAICS code?

For the BMO contract the Primary NAICS code has 
been identified as 561210, however at the task 
order level depending on the service requirement 
the agency will have the authority to determine the 
primary NAICS for the order.

22 6 29 C.8.15

Computerized 

Maintenance 

Management 

System (CMMS) One What is the anticipated workload?

The work requirements will be defined at the task 
order level by the ordering customer agency.

23 6 29 C.8.18

Ordering 

Contracting 

Officer (OCO) One How will the contractor know who is the OCO?

The customer will list the OCO (Point of Contact) 
on the task order solicitation.

24 6 29 C.8.18

Ordering 

Contracting 

Officer (OCO) One Is there a separate PCO and ACO?

The customer may delegate an awarded task order 
to an ACO as long as they hold a Delegation of 
Procurement Authority (DPA).

25 6 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee (CAF) All

Why is the CAF fee 2%? This seems high compared to 

the current .0075% IFF fee.

The proposed BMO CAF is higher than the 
Schedule Industrial Funding Fee due to the 
increased administration required for strategic 
sourcing initiatives.  There is significant data 
reporting and analysis that is required as part of 
the process as well as additional training of 
customers and outreach.

26 6 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee (CAF) All

Will adding the 2% CAF fee in our rates  cause a 

problem with our current rates for GSA Schedule 

03FAC?

The 2% CAF fee is not added into your rates.  It 
will be added as a separate line item to the 
invoice. Also, your GSA BMO rates should not 
affect your current GSA Schedule rates.

27 6 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee (CAF) All

How is the 2% CAF handled if an offeror uses a FSSI 

BMO small business subcontractor? Do we pay our 

respective share of the CAF or does the large business 

prime contractor pay the entire CAF?

Only the prime contractor will have privity of 
contract with the Government.  The CAF is added 
as a separate Contract Line Item (CLIN) on the 
invoice and is passed on to the customer.

28 6 53 G.3.3

Environmentally 

Sustainable 

Products 

Reporting All Can the Government provide an sample report?

We will look into this and if we can find a sample it 
will be posted with the final RFP.

29 6 53 G.3.3

Environmentally 

Sustainable 

Products 

Reporting All

Will the Government use a CLIN on each Task Order to 

track this item?

It is the vendor's responsibility to track and submit 
the requirements of this section. It is likely that, at 
the task order level, the government will not use a 
CLIN to track this item.

30 6 50 G.2.7

Corporate BMO 

Contract Manager 

(COCM) Two Can the Project Manager also serve in this position?

The person serving this role should be a senior, 
high-level, program manager able to satisfy all of 
the duties listed under this section.  If the Project 
Manager is qualified and able to fulfill that roll in 
addition to the Project Manager role, that is 
acceptable.



31 6 50 G.2.7

Corporate BMO 

Contract Manager 

(COCM) Two

Can the Government provide an example of how this 

might work in a large business?

Offerors are required to provide a senior, high-
level, program manager able to satisfy all of the 
duties listed under this section.  The staffing 
requirement for the COCM is the same no matter if 
the business is large or small. 

32 6 51 G.3.2.1

Task Order Award 

Data One Who do we report this information to?

This information will be reported via the  GSA 
Contract Payment Reporting Module (CPRM). 

33 6 51 G.3.2.1

Task Order Award 

Data One Can you provide an example report?

This will be input through the CPRM database.  
This is a post-award function, more information will 
be provided after award. 

34 6 48 G.2.3 Ombudsman One Will the Ombudsman be a GSA employee? Yes, the ombudsman is a GSA employee.

35 6 48 G.2.3 Ombudsman One

Will the Ombudsman have any authority to direct 

changes / make decisions?

The ombudsman resolves complaints related to fair 
opportunity in the ordering process consistent with 
the procedures of BMO/BMO SB and to review 
BMO/BMO SB CO decision to place a Contractor 
in Dormant Status.  They are able to make 
suggestions with regard to the aforementioned 
subjects but are not able to make changes to the 
contract, only the CO is able to make changes to 
the contract.

36 6 48 G.2.3 Ombudsman One Will there be an arbitration process?

There is no specific arbitration process outlined in 
the FAR or GSAM for decisions made by the 
Ombudsman.  However, GSAM 533.214 will apply.

37 6 62 H.9

Acceptable 

Accounting 

System One

Can the Government provide an example of an 

acceptable accounting system?

Please see section M.4.2.5 of the Draft Solicitation 
and the Attachment titled, "Pre-Award Surveys 
(SF1408)" for more information as to what is 
acceptable and required.

38 6 77 H.20.5

State Licensing – 

(O&M/Facility 

Support Services) One

Must the offeror obtain a HVAC license in each State in 

Zone 6?

For O&M, the offeror must be able to provide 
HVAC services in all states/locations within the 
Zone in which they are submitting a proposal.  If a 
HVAC license is required for a particular state(s) 
within the Zone then the offeror will need to obtain 
one in order to provide the services as required.

39 6 77 H.20.5

State Licensing – 

(O&M/Facility 

Support Services) One

What happens if the State does not have a HVAC 

license requirement?

If the state does not require a HVAC license, a 
license won't be required.  The offeror must be 
able to provide HVAC services in all 
states/locations within the Zone in which they are 
submitting a proposal.  Whatever that 
location/state requires in order to perform HVAC 
services, the offeror must be able to provide.

40 6 77 H.20.5

State Licensing – 

(O&M/Facility 

Support Services) One

Does an offeror have to get a State license or a license 

for each city where it operates? If it is required for that service. 

41 6 77 H.20.5

State Licensing – 

(O&M/Facility 

Support Services) One Must the offeror's subcontractors have licenses?

If it is required for the service(s) in which the 
subcontractor will be performing.

42 6 79 H.23.3

Subcontracts – 

(O&M) One What is the subcontract goal for FSSI BMO?

This information will be posted on the final RFP. 
The Offeror's Subcontracting Plan should only 
contain realistic goals that are attainable to the 
Offeror's individual circumstances.  The CO will 
review the contractor's subcontracting report on an 
annual basis to see if a contractor is making a 
good faith effort to meet the goals in which they 
set.  IAW FAR 19.705-7, "When a contractor fails 
to make a good faith effort to comply with a 
subcontracting plan, these objectives are not 
achieved, and 15 U.S.C. 637(d)(4)(f) directs that 
liquidated damages shall be paid by the 
contractor."  Please see FAR 19.704 and 19.705 
for more information on Subcontracting Plan 
requirements.

43 6 79 H.23.3

Subcontracts – 

(O&M) One What is the format of the Subcontracting Plan?

Attachment J.13 of the draft solicitation provides a 
Sub-Contracting Plan Template

44 6 79 H.23.3

Subcontracts – 

(O&M) One Who approves the Subcontracting Plan for FSSI BMO?

The BMO CO will approve as well as the Small 
Business Administration (SBA) Procurement 
Center Representative (PCR) and Office of Small 
Business Utilization (OSBU) Small Business 
Technical Advisor (SBTA). 

45 6 82 H.28 Partnering Two

How many "partnering" meetings are anticipated each 

year?

This is to be determined, see the "Meetings" 
Section of the Final Solicitation.

46 6 82 H.28 Partnering Two

What will be the forum for the partnering meeting, 

e.g., telecom, industry day forums, etc?

Can be a variety of forums, this has not yet been 
determined. See the "Meetings" Section of the 
Final Solicitation.

47 6 82 H.30

GSA BMO 

Webpage One When will this Website be deployed?

The website is now live 
(http://www.gsa.gov/portal/content/121570)

48 6 82 H.30

GSA BMO 

Webpage One What is the anticipated update frequency?

The website will be updated as needed when new 
information or changes are made.

49 6 82 H.30

GSA BMO 

Webpage One Will CAF payments be made via this Web page?

The CAF will be added to the invoice and paid 
through the normal invoicing process.

50 6 83 H.31

Contractor BMO 

Webpage One

Can the Government provide an example FSSI BMO 

small business Web site?

This refers to a page on the vendor's website 
where it must list all the required information. 
There is no required format.



51 6 87 H.36.1 On‐Ramping All

How many total FSSI BMO contractors does the 

Government anticipate there will be?

The anticipated number of awards will be different 
for each Zone and will depend on analysis of the 
market for each specific Zone.  The anticipated 
number of awards will be included on the final 
RFP's.  

52 6 89 H.36.5 Dormant Status All How long will "Dormant" status last?

A contractor in Dormant Status will remain in 
Dormant Status until all deficiencies or issues have 
been resolved. 

53 6 89 H.36.5 Dormant Status All

Will a contractor be allowed a "get well" period to get 

back into compliance?

The contractor will be allowed to provide the CO 
with a remediation plan to correct any deficiencies 
and/or issues.  That remediation plan should 
outline the time period in which the 
deficiencies/issues will be corrected. 

54 6 89 H.36.5 Dormant Status All Will dormant status be reflected on the CPARS

Refer to G.3.7 of the Draft Solicitation for more 
information on Past Performance information that 
may be reported in CPARS.  

55 6 90 H.36.6 Off‐Ramping All

If a company is off‐ramped, are they ineligible to get 

back on the FSSI BMO?

The company would have to wait for an On-Ramp 
period and would have to go through the source 
selection process where past performance will be 
evaluated.

56 6 90 H.36.6 Off‐Ramping All Will this status be reflected in the CPARS?

Refer to G.3.7 of the Draft Solicitation for more 
information on Past Performance information that 
may be reported in CPARS.  

57 6 98 552.219‐75

GSA Mentor‐

Protégé Program 

Clause All

Can a GSA approved mentor get subcontracting goals 

credit for working with its protégé?

No, the GSA regulations do not allow for an 
approved mentor to get subcontracting goal credit 
for working with its protégé. GSAM 519.7004 
outlines the incentives for mentors under GSA's 
Mentor Protégé Program.

58 6 98 552.219‐75

GSA Mentor‐

Protégé Program 

Clause All

What are the small business goals for the FSSI BMO 

contract? Who enforces them?

This information will be posted on the final RFP. 
The Offeror's Subcontracting Plan should only 
contain realistic goals that are attainable to the 
Offeror's individual circumstances.  The CO will 
review the contractor's subcontracting report on an 
annual basis to see if a contractor is making a 
good faith effort to meet the goals in which they 
set.  IAW FAR 19.705-7, "When a contractor fails 
to make a good faith effort to comply with a 
subcontracting plan, these objectives are not 
achieved, and 15 U.S.C. 637(d)(4)(f) directs that 
liquidated damages shall be paid by the 
contractor."  Please see FAR 19.704 and 19.705 
for more information on Subcontracting Plan 
requirements.

59 6 98 552.219‐75

GSA Mentor‐

Protégé Program 

Clause All How many protégés can a mentor have?

Please see GSAM 519.70 for information on the 
GSA Mentor-Protégé Program

60 6 99 52.216‐19

Order Limitations 

Clause All

Will bonding be required for these large orders? If so, 

under what circumstances?

Bonding is not required at the BMO contract level.  
If bonding is required at the task order level, it will 
be addressed in the task order solicitation. 

61 6 102 FAR 52.232‐99

Providing 

Accelerated 

Payment to Small 

Business 

Subcontractors All

Can the Government also approve "mobilization costs" 

for businesses as an additional tool to help with 

financing? This would be determined at the task order level. 

62 6 102 FAR 52.232‐99

Providing 

Accelerated 

Payment to Small 

Business 

Subcontractors All

How many days after receipt of invoice does an 

"accelerated payment" get made?

Regulations state that accelerated payments 
should be made as promptly as possible after 
receipt of a proper invoice.

63 6 133 M.4.1.5

Existing Joint 

Venture or 

Partnership, if 

applicable All

Will the GSA Mentor‐Protégé team need to submit its 

approved agreement with FSSI BMO proposals?

In order to qualify using the resources of more than 
one company, either a Meaningful Relationship 
Commitment Letter (MRCL) or a copy of a Joint 
Venture or Partnership agreement would be 
needed.  See sections M.4.1.4 and M.4.1.5 of the 
Draft Solicitation for requirements of both.

64 6 133 M.4.1.5

Existing Joint 

Venture or 

Partnership, if 

applicable All

Will the Government accept a standard subcontract 

agreement for FSSI BMO proposal?

No, in accordance with M.4.1.5, Any 
Prime/Subcontractor CTA as defined in FAR 
9.601(2) is not allowable and will be rejected.

65 6 133 M.4.1.5

Existing Joint 

Venture or 

Partnership, if 

applicable All

Can the Government provide an example of an 

acceptable Contractor Teaming Agreement for the FSSI 

BMO?

In order to qualify using the resources of more than 
one company, either a Meaningful Relationship 
Commitment Letter (MRCL) or a copy of a Joint 
Venture or Partnership agreement would be 
needed.  See sections M.4.1.4 and M.4.1.5 of the 
Draft Solicitation for requirements of both. 
Contractor Teaming Arrangements as defined at 
FAR 9.601(1) are acceptable, those defined at 
FAR 9.601(2) are not. 

66 6 135 M.4.2.4

Financial 

Information Two

Will current GSA Schedule 03FAC holders be exempt 

from the requirement to complete a GSA Form 527?

No, all offerors will need to submit the GSA Form 
527.  GSA Schedule 03FAC is a different 
procurement vehicle than BMO.

67 6 135 M.4.2.5

Pre‐Award Survey 

for the 

Prospective 

Contractor SF 

1408 All

How will the Government determine if a particular 

accounting system is acceptable?

Please see section M.4.2.5 and the Attachment 
titled, "Pre-Award Surveys (SF1408)" for more 
information as to what is acceptable and required.



68 6 135 M.4.2.5

Pre‐Award Survey 

for the 

Prospective 

Contractor SF 

1408 All Will the Government perform site visits to verify this?

In accordance with F.4, the BMO CO or an 
authorized representative shall have the right to 
examine and audit all supporting records and 
materials, regardless of whether such items are in 
written form, in the form of computer data, or in any 
other form, for the purpose of enforcing all 
deliverables and compliances herein.

69 All 135 1 MRCL M.4.1.4

It appears the solicitations for Zones 1 through 6 are 

virtually identical. Offerors who decide to bid some or 

all of the zone solicitations will need to submit MRCLs 

for each zone offer. This means Offerors could be 

submitting MRCLs up to six times. To avoid undue 

burden for those involved in the proposal and source 

selection process, would GSA consider modifying the 

requirement by allowing Offerors to submit MRCL(s) 

from a previous BMO SB zone offer if it equally applies 

to a subsequent zone solicitation?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

70 All 144 3

Additional 

Evaluation Credit 

for Multiple 

Project locations M.4.4.2

One project must cover multiple states within a zone 

to qualify for the additional credit. There does not 

seem to be a difference whether an Offeror has one 

project covering multiple states within a zone or more 

than  one project that each of which is in a different 

state within the zone. In either case, it demonstrates 

the Offerors capability to perform in multiple states. 

Would GSA consider allowing additional credit also 

when an Offeror has more than one project that 

collectively cover more than one state in a zone?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

71 All 147 3 Past Performance M.4.10

It appears the solicitations for Zones 1 through 6 are 

virtually identical. Offerors who decide to bid some or 

all of the zone solicitations could conceivably submit 

past performance surveys on a project for each offer. 

This means Offerors could be submitting surveys up to 

six times if the same project is used for each zone 

solicitation. To avoid undue burden on our 

Government project POCs for our cited projects, would 

GSA consider modifying the requirement by allowing 

Offerors to submit completed surveys from a previous 

BMO SB zone offer if the same project is used for a 

subsequent zone solicitation?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

72 All 1,2, & 3 Proposal Format L.10

Since it appears each zone solicitation (Zones 1 through

6) will have identical proposal requirements, an Offeror 

may be submitting identical information from a 

previous BMO SB zone offer in a subsequent BMO SB 

zone offer. In effect, this identical information may be 

submitted up to six times if an Offeror bids all the 

zones. Examples of the identical information include 

the SAM Record, Reps and Certs, GSA Form 527, Pre‐

Award Survey SF 1408, Professional Compensation 

Plan, Uncompensated Overtime Policy, Sustainability 

Plan, and Quality Control Plan. To preclude Offerors 

from having to repeatedly submit identical information 

and Source Selection members from evaluating the 

same information repeatedly for a company, would 

GSA consider modifying proposal requirements to ease 

duplication of effort in those cases where previously 

submitted information for a BMO SB zone need not be 

re‐submitted for a subsequent BMO SB zone but 

instead only identify the BMO SB zone proposal in 

which the information was previously submitted?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

73 All Attachment J.9 Instructions Row 17

Which city’s wage determination do we use as the 

basis for the SCLS applicable labor categories? Zone 1 

used Washington D.C., but this RFP covers multiple 

zones.

The wage determination for each zone will be 
included with the final RFP.

74 All Attachment J.9 Instructions Line 31

How are non‐SCLS labor categories to be priced? Are 

we to map our employees into applicable SOCs? What 

are we to use as the starting point for non‐SCLS rates?

Exempt labor categories shall be mapped to the 
applicable SOC labor categories identified in the 
"Non Srv Cnrt Lbr Stds SOCs Uses" tab located in 
attachment the Price Template (J.9). Regarding a 
starting point for pricing in this area, competition 
dictates the direct labor rate based on what the 
market will bear. See Section B.2.2.2 of the Draft 
Solicitation for more information.  

75 All Attachment J.9 Instructions

Lines 18 & 29, re 

Overhead rate

How are we to provide one single overhead rate when 

HDR has and may use multiple entities?

Per Section M.6 - Price of the Draft Solicitation, 
overhead as it relates and is proposed for the BMO 
contract is a fixed percentage. Privity of contract is 
between the Government and the prime contractor. 
Therefore, other entity relationships such as 
subcontractors, shall not affect the agreed upon 
BMO price established between the Government 
and the prime contractor. 



76 All M.6 Pricing

Non‐SCLS Labor 

Categories

If the Non‐SCLS rates are provided at this “IDIQ” level, 

what would trigger the need to re‐price them at the 

task order level?

The rates awarded at the IDIQ level are ceiling 
rates for non-SCLS categories.  Proposed rates at 
the task order level must be at or below the 
approved IDIQ ceiling rates.  The OCO may 
negotiate for lower rates at the task order level 
and/or the contractor may propose lower rates to 
ensure the proposal is competitive.

77 All Attachment J.9 Instructions

Lines 18 & 29, re 

Overhead rate

Since it appears you are asking us to discount rates at 

the task Order level, are you suggesting that we submit 

our most conservative (highest) rates since we won’t 

know which office, what person, how much 

unreimbursed driving time and expenses the job will 

have?

Companies should propose their most competitive 
pricing, keeping in mind that these are ceiling rates 
and must be determined fair and reasonable at the 
IDIQ level.

78 All B.3.4 Travel 2&3

Please reconsider travel time and travel costs. It is 

unrealistic to think that any business, large or small, is 

going to be able to have a ready workforce within easy 

driving distance of most of all of the federal project 

sites. Additionally, for jobs 100+ miles away from a 

firm’s office that last weeks or months, employees are 

going to be need to stay in hotels, etc. If you force 

bidders to build travel costs into the hourly rates, then 

the government will be paying travel costs for some 

jobs in the larger cities when it would not of been 

needed. Saying that, Travel is not reimbursable and 

that GSA expects contractors to have the ability to 

perform work in each zone without the need for travel; 

and If travel is needed, the Contracting Officer will 

need to approve it in advance is insufficient to develop 

rates for the BMO contract. It would be better to put 

that the Federal Joint Travel Regulations will apply. Will 

GSA change the RFP to indicate that contractor may 

propose travel costs and that travel reimbursement 

shall be in accordance with JTFR?

Thank you for your comment. Since approved 
travel is a reimbursable expense, there would be 
no need to build it into the BMO rates at the IDIQ 
level.  GSA has made note and will take this into 
consideration. Please stay connected to our BMO 
Interact site as we will be posting the most current 
information and changes regarding the updated 
RFP.

79 All B.3.4 Travel 2&3 Can travel costs be cost reimbursable?

Please refer to Section B.3.4 of the Draft 
Solicitation. Any travel costs has to have prior 
approval by the OCO.

80 All B.3.4 Travel 2&3

If for instance, Ft Benning had an existing contract for 

all Facility Maintenance on the military installation and 

that included 200 contract positions, and $10M per 

year contract value for all preventive and corrective 

maintenance for buildings – Could the BMO Contract 

for used the Re‐compete of that work?

Agencies must follow their normal acquisition 
procedures in determining if an option is to be 
exercised on an existing contract.  If a new 
contract is contemplated and the facilities are 
within a BMO zone, the agency may consider 
utilizing the BMO vehicle.

81 All 19 C.1

Background 

/Purpose 1

If you had to guess what % of Task Orders would cover 

2‐5+ services (Complete Facility Maintenance) for a 

installation, campus or building, versus the % of Task 

Orders that will be for a single line item such as (HVAC 

or Pest Control) what would the %’s be?

There is no way for us to estimate that percentage 
at this time.

82 All 19 C.1

Background 

/Purpose 1

What % of work do you envision to be “Construction” 

and what % would be “Services”

BMO is a facilities maintenance contract allowing 
for only minor construction possibly classified as 
an Other Direct Cost (ODC) at the task order level.

83 All 71 H.14.11

Ordinances, Taxes, 

Permits, and 

Licenses ‐ 

(O&M)Facility 

Support Services) 1

Will the Prime for this contract require a General 

Contractors License for construction in the State where 

the project is?

This is not a requirement at the IDIQ level, but may 
be required at the task order level depending on 
the requirements of the task order.

84 All 71 H.14.11

Ordinances, Taxes, 

Permits, and 

Licenses ‐ 

(O&M)Facility 

Support Services) 1

Some cities require a General Contractors building 

license as well as a State license, will it be required to 

hold these licenses to work on the Federal facilities?

This is not a requirement at the IDIQ level, but may 
be required at the task order level depending on 
the requirements of the task order.

85 All Attachment J.9

Price Proposal 

Template Column B

The number of labor categories is extremely large. 

What if a firm does not have personnel to fulfill all of 

the labor categories?

Offerors do not have to submit a proposal for all 
the listed labor categories, only those in which they 
can provide and in which would be needed to 
perform the services in which the offeror is 
proposing to provide.

86 All Attachment J.9

Price Proposal 

Template Column B

What if a firm and all of its teaming partners still do not 

have an existing employee for which to base their labor 

category rate for a particular labor category?

If you are not able to provide a particular labor 
category, you would not include that labor category 
in your proposal.

87 All Attachment J.9

Price Proposal 

Template Columns K&L

Can firms base their rates on open source information 

and industry specific prevailing wages, if they do not 

have prior experience within a labor category?

Firms that do not have prior experience providing a 
specific service/labor category would not qualify to 
offer that service/labor category under the BMO 
Solution.  

88 All 137/152 M4.3.2

Relevant Project 

Experience 1

Please clarify if J.10 Relevant Project Experience 

references are required to be in the zone being bid on?

The Relevant Project Experiences do NOT have to 
be in the zone in which the offeror is submitting a 
proposal.



89 All 137/153 M4.3.3

Relevant Project 

Experience 1

If bidding on multiple zones are separate J.10 Relevant 

Project Experience references required for each Zone 

or can the same references be used for each Zone 

being bid on?

Thank you for your question. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

90 All

Form J.10

 page 4/4 8th row in table

Limit of 1000 

words 1

If a single project is being used to represent multiple 

services for a Relevant Project Experience reference, 

we recommend that the word count limit be expanded 

to 1000 words per service, but no greater that 3000 

words for more that 3 services.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

91 All 145/152 M4.11 Past Performance 2

If bidding on a single Zone, how many J.8 Past 

Performance Surveys are required?

Based on feedback this is an area under review 
and may change in the Final RFP; however, 
currently three Past Performance Surveys are 
required per zone.

92 All 145/153 M4.12 Past Performance 2

If bidding on multiple Zones, how many J.8 Past 

Performance Surveys are required?

Based on feedback this is an area under review 
and may change in the Final RFP; however, 
currently three Past Performance Surveys are 
required per zone.

93 All

122/152 

and 

124/152 L3 and L10

Proposal 

Submission 

Instructions and 

Proposal Format 1

If bidding on multiple Zones, are separate bids required 

per Zone? Or, can bidders provide one document set 

covering all zones being bid on with separate 

subsections where Zone specific requirements, 

documents or details are being requested.

The Draft Solicitation states "Each Zone will 
consist of a separate solicitation," therefore 
requiring separate proposals per zone. However, 
based on feedback this is an area under review 
and may change in the Final RFP.

94 All 152/152 M6.3 Pricing Template 1

If services or specific personnel are required in a 

particular Task Order subsequent to Prime Contract 

Award, what will be the mechanism for the Prime to 

add these items and prices to the prime contract of to 

the individual Task Order?

Labor categories can be added to the IDIQ 
contract after award via a formal contract 
modification process. See section C.8.3 Additional 
Services of the Draft Solicitation for additional 
guidance. 

95 All 138/152 M4.3.2.3

Additional Eval 

Criteria for 

Relevant US 

Federal 

Government 

Customers 1

Would the GSA consider not providing additional 

scoring points for US Federal Government customer 

references, as this diminishes the value and weighting 

of provided Commercial contracts that may be of equal 

or greater value or complexity and creates a 

disadvantage to small and large businesses not 

currently performing US Government contracts?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

96 All

87/152 

and 

129/152 H36.1 and M1

On‐ramping and 

Basis of Award 2 and 3

What is the target number of Large and Small business 

initial awardees per Zone?

This information has not yet been determined but 
will be stated in the final RFP's.

97

11 of 154 Section B Services, 
Ordering and 
Prices

B.1 
Background

Would the GSA consider consolidating or 
bundling a substantial number of facilities and 
various services into a single task order so that 
the GSA and its customer agencies can benefit 
from the resulting efficiencies, standardization, 
centralized reporting, and pricing that can be 
achieved through economies of scale? That will be determined at the task order level by 

the customer agency.

98

11 of 154 Section B Services, 
Ordering and 
Prices

B.1 
Background

Specific to small businesses, how will FAR rules 
of self-performance be addressed in a BMO 
contract?

Small business performance will be in accordance 
with the Limitations on Subcontracting 52.219-14.

99

128 of 
154

L.10 Proposal Format N/A If the GSA is considering separate proposal 
submissions for each Zone within Phase II, would 
the GSA consider allowing industry to provide one 
set of required documents for those that don’t 
need to be customized per Zone (i.e., SAM 
Registration, Reps and Certs, Professional 
Compensation Plan, Quality Control Plan, 
Subcontracting Plan, Sustainability Plan)?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

100

149 of 
154

Section M Evaluation 
Factors for 
Award

M.4.10.1 Past 
Performance 
PPIRS (for 
information that 
exists)

If a company has past performance information in 
PPIRS, why are additional surveys required, 
potentially from the same contracting officers?

In some of our discussions with customers, they 
stated that they sometimes require both but we will 
take your comments into consideration.  
Additionally, some vendors expressed concerns 
that not all of their contracts had been reported in 
PPIRS.

101

J.9 Pricing Template How will escalations in labor costs be determined 
in during the subsequent years of a BMO 
contract?

For non-exempt labor categories, future price 
adjustments will be to the base rate (direct labor) 
and health and welfare rate at the task order level 
only, based on changes to the prevailing wage 
rates in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards 
Clause. All other elements that comprise the fully 
burdened rates shall remain the same. For exempt 
labor categories offerors will propose a fixed 
annual escalation rate that will be used over the 
life of the contract. 

102

J.9 Pricing Template Will OH&P adjustments be included in any labor 
cost changes?

Overhead, G&A, other costs, and profit rates (as a 
percentage) shall remain fixed for the life of the 
contract. Please refer to Section M.6 - Price of the 
Solicitation for more details. 



103 All NA NA NA NA

This is a general comment on the RFP and the excel 

attachments. While this does not make it user friendly, 

we understand why GSA has decided to "lock" many of 

the cells on the excel spreadsheets. But, please double 

check that all the words in the locked cells can be 

viewed on the screen. In the questionnaire file for Zone 

2‐6 and in the Zone 1 RFP, several files had additional 

words in the cells that could not be viewed. And, since 

some of the cells were locked, they could not be 

"clicked" on or expanded so we could view all the text.

Thank you for the comment, we will look into this 
issue.

104 All 143 M.4.10

Subcontracting 

Plan All

Please provide contractors with the dollar amount we 

should base our subcontracting plan on. Using the $15 

billion dollar amount given on page 14 is not realistic. 

Or will plans be evaluated and subsequently after 

award be deemed compliant, if the percentages are 

met? This information will be posted on the final RFP.

105 All 145 M.4.11 Past Performance All

Our current clients do not always have the time or 

inclination to complete multiple past performance 

surveys and questionnaires. Can the same past 

performance surveys that were used for the BMO Zone 

1 proposal be used for Zones 2‐6? If not, can surveys 

received for any of the Zones 2‐6 be used for the other 

Zones (2‐6)?

Currently, the draft RFP requires offerors to submit 
past performance surveys (3 in total)  for the same 
projects submitted under the relevant project 
experience section. However, based on feedback 
this is an area under review and may change in the 
Final RFP; 

106 2 19 C.4

Performance 

Objectives 1

In the O&M service groups only HVAC, electrical and 

plumbing are required services however not all 

facilities have the same complexity or criticality. The 

federal government has spent a great amount of 

money and resources on major renovations and new 

green building LEED certified constructions in order to 

decrease energy consumption and overall 

environmental impact. As per LEED O&M the credit 

with the most possible points is Optimize Energy 

performance. LEED building energy performance 

optimization is primarily driven by Building Automation 

System. Also on healthcare facilities failures on the 

proper control of environmental parameter could lead 

to serious issues, legal conflicts and costly downtimes. 

It has been noted that in many such complex federal 

facilities the maintenance contractor has not been able 

to properly maintain the BAS because their technicians 

are not technically capable of working with these 

systems. This situations affects the energy levels 

required as well as tenant comfort and healthcare 

facilities issues. We believe that at least for LEED 

facilities or large health care facilities the maintenance 

contractor should have the in‐house technical 

expertize to work with the BAS since this is a 

performance based contract. Is the government going 

to consider the inclusion of this service as a required 

service on these type of facilities?

Thank you for your comment. Market research and 
discussions held with customers has indicated the 
required services listed in the  draft RFP are the 
BMO services most commonly grouped together 
and solicited by customers. Based on this 
information BAS services will not be a required 
service at the parent contract level.

107 2 25 C.5.2.6 Other Direct Cost 1

Is the OCO allowed to obtain quotations from other 

vendors? Is the OCO required to first ask for a 

quotation of the contractor and if not deemed 

reasonably then ask for other vendors quotations?

BMO is a multiple-award IDIQ.  OCO's are 
required to provide Fair Opportunity to all awarded 
BMO vendors that can provide the required 
service(s).

108 2 61 H.6.2

Predominant Task 

Order NAICS 

Determination 1

Please confirm that the OCO will be allowed to issue 

sole source contracts.

As long as the OCO follows the procedures of FAR 
16.505.

109 2 61 H.6.2

Predominant Task 

Order NAICS 

Determination 1

In the industry day GSA personnel mention that some 

special considerations could be allowed for 8a 

contractors regarding sole sourcing. Please advise if 

any special consideration will be possible.

There will not be the ability to do a sole source 8a 
task order.

110 2 61 H.6.2

Predominant Task 

Order NAICS 

Determination 2

Paragraph 2 says If the solicitation could be classified in 

two or more NAICS codes with different size standards, 

the OCO shall apply the NAICS code and corresponding 

size standard for the industry accounting for the 

greatest percentage of anticipated task order 

price/cost.  Does this means that OCO will issue 

solicitations by selecting only one NAICS code?  Does 

this means that contractors that do not have a NAICS 

code registered under their services will not receive 

the solicitation? On GSA schedule if a requirement 

could be issued using more than one SIN code but the 

CO choose only one of them then only the contractors 

that have the chosen SIN will receive the solicitation 

and will be able to participate. This is not fair and 

should be avoided.

The OCO will choose one NAICS code for the task 
order solicitation that best represents the work to 
be done.  Notwithstanding a set-aside at the task 
order level, under Fair Opportunity, the customer 
should send the task order solicitation to all BMO 
vendors that have been awarded the requested 
service(s).  



111 2 64 H.12

Meaningful 

Relationship 

Commitment 

Letters 1

This paragraph states that MRCL are from other 

affiliates, divisions, or subsidiaries within a Contractors 

internal corporate structure. However in the industry 

day the GSA personnel presenting the solicitation 

explained that contractors could have MRCL with other 

contractors in different states. It was explained that 

this will give the contractor more credibility on their 

capability of zone coverage. Please advise on this.

In accordance with H.12 of the Draft Solicitation, 
an MRCL is for affiliates, divisions, or subsidiaries 
within a Contractor's internal corporate structure.  

112 2 87 H.35.4

Cooperation with 

other Contractors 

on Government 

Sites 1

Is the government going to issue a change order in 

cases where the contractor needs to escort other 

contractors through the building? Are there any 

maximum weekly hours expected to be worked by the 

contractor when cooperating with other contractors?

Specific requirements will be defined at the task 
order level.

113 2 132 M.2

Screening and 

evaluation process 5

Paragraph establish that Any Offeror in the competitive 

range based upon score, who fails any of the criteria 

listed in the Acceptability Review in Section M.3 

Acceptability Review., will be removed from 

consideration for award and notified, in writing, as 

soon as practicable. How ever the Acceptability Review 

involves the process of pre‐screening documents to 

ensure that all content have been provided as required 

in Sections 1 through 4 of the solicitation. Does this 

means that the acceptability review will only verify that 

the documents have been included regardless of the 

completeness of the documents? There are several 

evaluation factors that are pass/fail basis and some of 

them do not have clear expectations from the 

government regarding what will be acceptable. This 

could prevent a good contractor to get awarded if one 

of the items is failed. Is the government going to 

provide greater details regarding the pass/fail criteria 

of these items?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

114 2 139 M.4.2.4

Financial 

Information 1

What does it means adequate financial resources? Can 

the government specify a more objective term such as 

bonding capacity limit or available cash flow etc?

The contractor would have to demonstrate through 
completing the GSA Form 527 that the company 
can meet its day to day financial obligations

115 2 139 M.4.2.4

Financial 

Information 1

How can a contractor demonstrate the ability to obtain 

adequate financial resources?

The contractor would have to demonstrate through 
completing the GSA Form 527 that the company 
can meet its day to day financial obligations

116 2 140 M.4.3.2.1

Pass/Fail 

Requirements for 

Relevant Project 

Experience 2

In certain facilities procurement processes do not 

allows or promote complete Facility Maintenance 

Contracts, instead various contracts are issued 

separately to cover equipment maintenance such as 

chillers, air handlers, cooling towers, BAS, Breakers etc. 

If a contractor have won two or three of these 

contracts and it is managing the contracts as if it were 

a unified contract using one common contract manager

(account manager) one quality manager, one safety 

manager and so forth will the government consider 

this as a relevant single project experience? What if 

various contracts have been issued using the same GSA 

Schedule but with different task orders?

Each contract/task order is a separate project.  
However, in the narrative of the Relative Project 
Experience Template it could be noted that several 
contracts/task orders were done in the same 
facility and managed by "one common contract 
manager, quality manager, safety manager, etc."

117 2 141 M.4.3.2.2

Pass/Fail 

Requirements for 

Relevant Project 

Experience 8

Condition number 4 establishes that projects can be 

located within the contiguous United states including 

Alaska and Hawaii. Due to the facts that Puerto Rico is 

a territory of the united states were all federal laws are 

applicable and with presence of most federal agencies, 

is the government going to accept past experiences 

performed on the island to federal customers? Also is 

the government going to accept past experience for 

contracts performed to US national companies? Is the 

government going to accept past experiences for 

contracts performed on federal agencies in the US 

Virgin Island?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

118 2 144 M.4.4.2

Additional 

Evaluation Credit 

for Multiple 

Project Locations 

in Zones 2 through 

6 1

Is the government going to give credits to contractors 

having contracts on multiple states not included in the 

geographical areas such as Alabama?

At this time extra evaluation credit is only given to 
relevant project experiences performed in multiple 
states of a particular Zone.



119 2 144 M.4.4.2

Additional 

Evaluation Credit 

for Multiple 

Project Locations 

in Zones 2 through 

6 1

Is the government giving additional credits for 

contracts that includes facilities on more than one 

state or is the government referring to contractors 

having contracts on different states? The scoring sheet 

only gives additional credits if on contract have 

facilities on different states however we believe that 

what is most important is the capacity of the 

contractor of managing contracts in different states 

regardless if it is a single contract for multiple states or 

multiple contracts on multiple states. Also being this 

RFP a small business RFP we believe that in any case 

the amount of additional credits given for this item 

should be minimum since otherwise will be promoting 

large contractors. Is the government going to decrease 

the amount of additional credits given by this item?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

120 2 145 M.4.7

Uncompensated 

Overtime Policy 1

Uncompensated Overtime Policies could vary 

significantly and FAR 52.237‐10 is not specific on what 

an acceptable policy should be. Could the government 

provide an example of a recommended policy? Is total 

hours accountability desired?

At the IDIQ level, we are looking for a general plan 
on how Overtime would be handled.  We are not 
looking for specific numbers, rates, etc.

121 2 150 Attachment J.3 Self Scoring Table n/a

Past performance section subtotal on the scoring sheet 

is calculating the sum of the results instead than the 

maximum value.

The formula used in the Past Performance section 
of the self-scoring worksheet is correct. 

122 2 N/A General

Small 

disadvantaged 

business n/a

Is there any required percentage of contractors to be 

awarded based on socio economic status. For example 

how many 8a, hubzone, SDVOSB contractors are 

expected to be awarded? This is a large contract with 

many requirements and it will be challenging for small 

disadvantaged business to get awarded. Can the 

government consider to give more credits to 

socioeconomic categories in order to promote the 

development of real small business? If not it will be 

very possible that most contractors awarded will be in 

the higher end of the small business size standards.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

123 Zones 2‐6 140 M.4.3.2

Relevant Project 

Experience 1

Our firm participated in the BMO Zone 1 solicitation. Is 

it acceptable to re‐use the same relevant project 

experience that was submitted in response to BMO 

Zone 1 solicitation?

An offeror may use the same relevant project 
experience as submitted for the BMO Zone 1 
solicitation, however the formatting and solicitation 
number will need to change on the template(s) as 
applicable.  Also, please review the final RFP's to 
ensure that requirements for the submission of 
Relevant Project Experiences hasn't change for 
the new Zones.

124 Zones 2‐6 147 M.4.10 Past Performance 1

Our firm participated in the BMO Zone 1 solicitation. Is 

it acceptable to re‐use the same past performance 

surveys that were submitted in response to BMO Zone 

1 solicitation? We feel that it would be repetitious to 

have our customer complete the surveys again.

Currently, the draft RFP requires offerors to submit 
past performance surveys (3 in total)  for the same 
projects submitted under the relevant project 
experience section. However, based on feedback 
this is an area under review and may change in the 
Final RFP; 

125 2/6/2016 141 M

Evaluation Factors 

for Award 4.3.2.1

p p p

and we did not "make the cut". One of the comments 

for experience was our references were outside 

CONUS. First, the solicitation said "can be located 

within the Contiguous United Stated to include Alaska 

and Hawaii". It doesn't say will be. Second, it says 

"Each project may be any combination of U.S. Federal 

Government, U.S. State Government and Non‐

Government/Commercial can be submitted." As this 

procurement contains the same language, we are 

asking that consideration be given to projects that may 

be for (1) the U.S. Government at a foreign Embassy or 

military installation abroad; and (2) Provincial and 

commercial buildings in Canada. In Europe and in 

Canada, the buildings are equally as complex as what is 

in the U.S. and this can be demonstrated. Additionally, 

the requirements in Europe and in Canada require 

more stringent certifications (e.g. ISO90001) as 

compares to the U.S., thus forcing a higher standard 

(one that is audited) for a company to meet. If the 

procurement would not allow the evaluators to 

recognize foreign properties as a "Federal Building" 

(e.g. in Spain/Embassy, in D.C. various Embassies), then 

why couldn't the offeror at a minimum be given 

consideration for a commercial building, because they 

are considered Class A and above. Further examples of 

this is within one of the "optional" service items, fire 

suppression and fire alarm. In Canada, they follow the 

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

126 2/6/2016 22 C

Description/Specifi

cations/ 

Performance 

Based Statement 

of Work 

Statement 

(PBSOW) C.5.1.7

Is NAICS 238160 a service code or actually 

construction?

The task order OCO will determine if the work to 
be performed is services or construction under this 
NAICS code.  For the purposes of BMO, this 
NAICS will generally be used for roofing repairs, 
not complete roof replacement.



127 2/6/2016 21 C

Description/Specifi

cations/ 

Performance 

Based Statement 

of Work 

Statement 

(PBSOW) C.5.1.4

Although Elevator Maintenance is an "optional" service 

item, has the elevator maintenance contracts expired?

BMO is government-wide contract that will be used 
by multiple customer agencies.  There are no 
specific buildings identified for services at the IDIQ 
level.  An ordering agency will include elevator 
maintenance services at the task order level if it is 
required.

128 All 139 M.4.4

Project Zone 

Coverage

What is the intent of the Project zone Coverage? In the 

unrestricted bids, we should be able to bid for all zones 

without being penalized. We are basically blocked out 

of some areas or zones based on our ability to show 

experience in those zones. We can perform anywhere, 

but will score so low, we might not make the cut.

The intent of the Project Zone Coverage, is to have 
a contract solution for our customers in which they 
can consolidate service requirements for facilities 
within a geographic area.  This allows customers 
to decrease contract actions and increase 
efficiency and cost savings.

129 M.4..2

Additional 

Evaluation Credit 

for Multiple 

Project Locations 

in Zones 2 through 

6

Additional credit is provided for project(s) that perform 

services in at least two of the states in the zone? 

Please clarify that contract work has to be performed 

simultaneously in two states. This begs the question 

why this was seen as important? Wouldn't the skill 

necessary to perform in multiple locations within a 

state carry as much weight? It is much more difficult to 

provide services at multiple buildings in multiple 

locations than having to deal with working in multiple 

states. We feel we should get additional credit for 

performing large multiple building contracts even if 

they remain within one states geographical boundary.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

130 All M.1 Basis for Award

How many "unrestricted" awards will be made per 

zone? Can one contractor be given an award in Zones 2‐

6 if they meet all requirements and score well with 

each of their submittals?

The number of unrestricted awards per zone has 
not yet been determined, that will be posted with 
the final RFP.  A contractor may receive awards in 
multiple or all of the Zones. 

131 All 129 M.2

Screening and 

Evaluation Process

How does the BMO develop a competitive range? Will 

the competitive range differ between zones?

The competitive range will be developed in 
accordance with FAR 15.306(c).

132 All 130 M.2

Screening and 

Evaluation Process

Will an offeror have the ability to dispute findings in 

the Acceptability Review? For example, if the 

Acceptability Review Screening evaluation team 

determines that an evaluation element claim is 

unsubstantiated, will the offeror be given a chance to 

clarify or better explain their claim? The potential is 

there for things to misunderstood.

If the CO contacts the offeror for clarifications, or 
decides to hold discussions the offeror may have a 
chance to address any discrepancies in their 
proposal.  However, that decision is at the CO's 
discretion.  Award without discussions is 
anticipated and the offeror should initially submit 
their best proposal ensuring that it is both accurate 
and complete. 

133 All 143‐144 M.4.10

Subcontracting 

Plan.

Does the SBA consider VOSB and SDVOSB as separate 

sub groups under small business? Can you please 

clarify what the GSA subcontracting goals are for VOSB 

and SDVOSB? Is the goal for 3% each acceptable, as 

shown within the table on pg 144?

Yes, VOSB and SDVOSB are separate sub-
groups.  GSA and all Federal agencies have 
subcontracting goals, but the goals on a 
subcontracting plan should be developed based on 
your company's resources. Percentages proposed 
will be evaluated during offer review.

134 All 144 M.4.10

Subcontracting 

Plan. Is a SDVOSB considered a sub group within a VOSB? No, not for the purposes of projecting goals.

135 All 144 M.4.10

Subcontracting 

Plan.

What contract dollar amount (Base & Option 1) should 

we use to develop our individual subcontracting plan. This information will be posted on the final RFP.

136 All 147 M.4.4.2 Scoring Table

Under M.4.4 Project Zone Coverage, it states, "The 

offeror will receive additional evaluation credit for any 

of the three (3) projects submitted that covers multiple 

locations listed in Zone (your proposed Zone.)" Can you 

please clarify this? Does this mean a project within a 

zone that is performed in at least two states within the 

zone? Or does it mean a project that provides services 

to multiple locations, within one state of the zone? I 

believe the solicitation for Zone 1 was worded 

differently.

Our intent for Section M.4.4.2 of the Draft 
Solicitation is for offerors to receive additional 
evaluation credit for submitting projects that cover 
multiple states within a zone. Thank you for your 
comment. We will look at clarifying this language 
for the release of the Final RFP. 

137 All 147 M.5 Scoring Table

Is the scoring on this table the same as the Self Scoring 

Sheet Attachment (J.3 Self Scoring Sheet).

The scoring table provided under Section M.5 of 
the Draft Solicitation as well as Attachment J.3 was 
provided as a sample for what the self scoring 
table might look like in the Final RFP.  The self-
scoring worksheet in the Final RFP will likely differ.  

138 All 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee

Is the Contract Access Fee (CAF) a pass through cost to 

customer?

Yes.  The CAF will be added as a CLIN to the 
invoice.  The payment of the CAF will be made by 
the customer.

139 All 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee

Can you provide an example (and show the math) of 

how the CAF would work on a Task Order? The 

explanation on how the CAF will work in Section G.3.1 

is not clear.

The CAF is added to the invoice as a separate 
CLIN.  The CAF dollar amount will be 2% of the 
total fixed-price or estimated costs of the task 
order.

140 All 51 G.3.1

Contract Access 

Fee

Can you please clarify how the total BMO volume 

affects what is billed to the customer? Section G.3.1 ‐ 

"The actual dollar amount to be billed to the customer 

upon task order award will depend upon the total BMO 

business volume with the customer or whether the 

customer organization has a CAF Memorandum of 

Understanding (CAF MOU) agreement in place with the 

BMO Program Office."

Currently the CAF is 2.0% unless otherwise 
notified by the BMO Program Office.



141 All 82 H.30

GSA BMO 

Webpage When will the BMO website become active?

The BMO website is currently active at this time.  
Please stay tuned to GSA Interact for updates and 
new content.

142 H.30

GSA BMO 

Webpage

Will BMO task orders be posted on BMO specific 

website or will they be placed on Ebuy under their own 

section? It was also mentioned at the industry day that 

the task orders would come out on the FBO website.

The OCO's can post a solicitation to E-Buy 
selecting the BMO vendors to receive it or they can 
issue the solicitation through their agency's 
preferred method.

143 All All Solicitation

What will be the percentage split of contracts between 

Small Business and Unrestricted? Can we assume that 

the Task Orders that contain multiple services and are 

considered more complex, will be solicited on the 

unrestricted side?

This has not yet been determined.  This will be 
calculated based on market research, spend 
analysis, and other industry feedback.  The 
number of awards for each zone will be posted 
with the final RFP. It would not be fair to assume 
that orders containing multiple services will be 
solicited on the unrestricted side.  It is anticipated 
that small businesses will also be able to provide 
multiples services as well and will be required to 
provide the required services at a minimum.

144 87‐88 H.36.2

Vertical Contract 

On‐Ramping

The solicitation does not discuss on‐ramping from the 

unrestricted category to the small business category. It 

is possible that a company is awarded an unrestricted 

contract and then during the base contract moves back 

into the small business category (based on three‐year 

average revenue) under NAICS code 561210. Would 

that company/firm be allowed to now compete for 

small business task orders? Small companies are 

allowed to on‐ramp to the unrestricted category, so I 

would think it would also work the other way.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

145 60‐61 H.6.1 & H.6.2 BMO NAICS Codes

Can more clarity be given on the NAICS codes that will 

be assigned. My concern is that the NAICS code of 

561210 will never be used. If this is the case, all of the 

task orders issued under BMO would end up being 

given to small business. We were working under the 

assumption that if a Task Order was issued and 

required 2‐3 different services, it would automatically 

be placed in the 561210 arena since that NAICS code 

covers all of individual services. Is this a good 

assumption?

It is up to the OCO which NAICS code to use and 
that will be dependent on the majority of the work 
to be performed for that task order.  Using a 
particular NAICS will not mean that a task order 
would always go to small business.  The OCO 
would have to make a decision to do a small 
business set-aside at the task order level in order 
for that to be true.

146 83 H.33

Minimum Task 

Order Awards or 

Estimated Value

Can you remove or revise this section. It would not be 

fair for a company to be off‐ramped or placed in a 

dormant status for failing to attain a minimum of 5 task 

order awards or a total order estimated value of 

$1.25M. Some companies might bid every task order 

and just not be successful. I think a better measure 

would be that a contractor has to submit bids for at 

least a certain number of Task Orders to remain on the 

contract. If the contractor does not bid, that should be 

the trigger for placing the contractor in a dormant 

status or off‐ramping.

The Minimum Task Order Awards/Value is 
included to not only ensure that awardees are 
submitting proposals on a regular basis but also 
obtaining awards.  Having a vendor on the contract 
without obtaining any awards is not beneficial to 
the Government or the vendor.  If the awardee is 
consistently submitting proposals and not 
obtaining awards, we need to look into why that 
may be and address that issue.  Therefore, this 
requirement is applicable and relevant to the 
success of this vehicle.  

147 85 H.35.3

Conflicts of 

Interest

Can a Prime contractor under the unrestricted contract 

be a subcontractor to a Small Business Prime 

contractor on a Task Order issued under the Small 

Business BMO?

Yes, as long as the terms of Clause 52.219-14, 
Limitation on Subcontracting are followed.

148 135 M.4.2.3

Representations 

and Certifications 

(Reps and Certs)

Why are we filling out Section K if they are done 

electronically via SAM? Wouldn’t a 1‐page 

acknowledgement by the contractor stating that its 

Reps and Certs are current and up to date on SAM 

suffice?

Section K is required to be submitted per the Draft 
Solicitation.  Within Section K, Clause 52.212-3, 
only paragraph (b)(2) is required to be filled out "if 
the offeror verifies by submission of this offer that 
the representations and certifications currently 
posted electronically at FAR 52.212-3, Offeror 
Representations and Certifications—Commercial 
Items, have been entered or updated in the last 12 
months, are current, accurate, complete, and 
applicable to this solicitation (including the 
business size standard applicable to the NAICS 
code referenced for this solicitation), as of the date 
of this offer and are incorporated in this offer by 
reference (see FAR 4.1201)..." 

149 123 L.7

Proposal Due Date 

and Address Line

Can the release of Zones 2‐6 be staggered so they are 

not all due on the same day? Some companies would 

like to bid all zones.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

150 48 Section G

Contract 

Administration

Once awards have been made, I recommend that all 

awardee's attend a workshop together so the internal 

operations of the contract can be explained by the GSA 

BMO team. This would allow all parties to learn 

together and share questions. It would also be a good 

chance to network among the awardee's. In addition, 

one day could be used to invite all the potential 

agencies to meet us and sell the program to them.

After contract awards have been made, the BMO 
team will hold a "Vendor Kick-Off Meeting" that will 
serve that function.  We do not include a day for all 
the customer agencies to attend at this time, 
however we hold multiple trainings for our 
customer agencies and are in regular contact with 
our customers to keep them informed on the 
procurement.  



151 140 M.4.4.2

Additional 

Evaluation Credit 

for Multiple 

Project Locations 

in Zones 2 through 

6

Can the evaluation credit for multiple project locations 

for Unrestricted businesses be removed. Additional 

evaluation credit is given if you have a contract that 

provides services in at least two of states in the zone. If 

you don’t have any contracts in a particular zone, you 

will be rated lower. I understand the concern that a 

small business should show experience in a zone, but 

this really doesn't have an effect in the unrestricted 

business side. Regardless of where the contract is, 

most if not all the companies that are applying for the 

unrestricted award can perform. We should be rated 

on the quality of services provided. Maybe a better 

way to scale this is to provide points to a contractor for 

how many states he works in. For example, regardless 

of the zone you are trying for, you get a point for every 

state you have facility support contract in.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

152 139

Attachment J.3 and 

M.4.4.

Project Zone 

Coverage

Can credit also be given for contracts that are 

performed at multiple locations within a state. These 

contracts are just as complex as contracts that are 

performed in two separate states.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

153

ATTACHMENT_J.1

0_RELEVANT_EXP

ERIENCE_PROJECT

_TEMPLATE.docx n/a

Would GSA consider removing the 1,000 word limit on 

the RPE forms? The brief word count makes it very 

difficult to "substantiate all the information by 

providing enough evidence within a contract or task 

order document or other verifiable contractual 

documents to support each answer."

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

154 130 L.10.5

Proposal Format 

Table n/a

Must resumes be submitted in 12 point Arial with 1 

inch margins?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

155 135 & 137 M.4.1.4 & M.4.1.5

M.4.1.4 

Meaningful 

Relationship 

Commitment 

Letters (MRCL), & 

M.4.1.5 Existing 

Joint Venture or 

Partnership

135 ‐ p. 1 137 ‐ 

p. 1

At the Industry Day held in Atlanta on January 21, the 

speaker encouraged applicants to consider teaming 

with other companies to meet past performance 

requirements. She even indicated that a prime could 

use a subcontracting partner's previous experience. 

This information seems to conflict with the guidelines 

on page 137 which states, "Any Prime/Subcontractor 

CTA as defined in FAR 9.601(2) is not allowable and will 

be rejected." It is also stated on page 135 that "Outside 

a corporate structure, such as a “Subcontractor” 

performance under a “Prime” Contractor, GSA will not 

allow an Offeror to take credit for any evaluation 

element, including relevant experience project(s), 

system(s), or certification(s) as a “Subcontractor." 

Could you please confirm that subcontractors' previous 

experience is not allowed for BMO?

We apologize for the confusion. In accordance 
with H.12 of the Draft Solicitation, an MRCL is for 
affiliates, divisions, or subsidiaries within a 
Contractor's internal corporate structure.  

156 135 M.4.1.4

Meaningful 

Relationship 

Commitment 

Letters (MRCL), if 

applicable all

At the Industry Day held in Atlanta on January 21, the 

speaker indicated that a subcontractor's experience 

could be used if a "Meaningful Relationship Letter" was 

obtained. This information seems to conflict with the 

guidelines about the purpose of Meaningful 

Relationship Letters. Aren't these letters to clarify the 

roles of a corporation which has separate entities or 

divisions within one company and not to document 

subcontractor relationships?

We apologize for the confusion. In accordance 
with H.12 of the Draft Solicitation, an MRCL is for 
affiliates, divisions, or subsidiaries within a 
Contractor's internal corporate structure.  

157 18‐19 C

Description/ 

Specifications/ 

Performance 

Based Statement 

of Work 

Statement C.3, C.4

Our biggest concern is what the Government expects 

these task orders to entail when they are issued. Will 

there individual task orders for different small jobs at 

different locations? Will there be task orders for all of a 

service category for individual buildings for an 

extended period of time? Will there be individual large 

projects? Can the contractor expect to have to provide 

small service levels to small buildings in small towns, or 

large service levels to large buildings in large towns? 

Please clarify the Government’s intentions.

The BMO Solution is not a mandatory source for 
customer agencies. Therefore, if it's difficult to 
predict customer usage. The structure of the BMO 
Solution was developed so a wide range of 
customer needs could be met. Based on this, it is 
BMO's expectation that various order combinations 
(single service, multiple service, large sites, small 
sites) will be used when awards are made against 
the vehicle.

158 18‐19 C

Description/Specifi

cations/ 

Performance 

Based Statement 

of Work 

Statement C.3, C.4

What is the Government’s intention in offering the 

method of procurement instead of offering FFP/IQ 

contracts for specific facilities for these same services? 

What is the advantage to the Government or the 

perceived advantage to the contractor? Please clarify.

The Government's intention is to build a 
Government-wide solution that meets the needs of 
many different customers. Advantages to strategic 
sourcing are listed here 
(http://www.gsa.gov/portal/content/105156).  The 
advantage for those awarded a BMO contract is 
the opportunity to obtain business on a vehicle 
with a set number of vendors. 



159 ALL 4 Section J

Relevant Project 

Experience 

Template/ 

Relevant Project 

Experience Project 

Details N/A

Encourage GSA to increase word limit on project 

description to allow for a complete response to the 

large number of SOW areas covered by the contract

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. 

160 ALL 130 L

Proposal Format 

Table

Sustainability 

Plan

Request GSA increase pages allotted to respond to the 

Sustainability Plan section to 10 pages. This section 

requires the Offeror to cover a large range of items, 

and additional space would allow us to provide a 

complete response.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. 

161 ALL Section J Pricing Template N/A

Recommend adding General Maintenance Worker as a 

labor category.

The labor category of general maintenance 
workers currently exists on row 314 of the excel 
spreadsheet in the "Price Proposal SCLS" tab.

162

163

To qualify as a bidder the company must perform 
services in each of the required categories, and 
be able to perform in all states within their 
respective zone?  If a company has not performed 
services in one of the required service categories, 
can it use a subcontractor for past performance 
and still qualify?

To qualify you must be able to perform each of the 
required service categories throughout the entire 
zone.  To demonstrate you can perform a service, 
you must be able to show your company has either 
performed or successfully managed a given 
services as a prime contractor. Subcontracting a 
certain service is allowed as long as you have 
successfully subcontracted out that service in the 
past. Please see M.4.3.2 of the Draft Solicitation 
for specific relevant project experience 
requirements. Additionally, please see M.4.1.4 and 
M.4.1.5 for other possible options.

164

Many of our sites have an O&M contract specific 
to elevator maintenance and repair it just hasn’t 
fallen under our management team. Would this 
exclude us from submitting a competitive bid for 
this project?

Yes, based on the information provided, it would 
exclude you from submitting an offer. Elevator 
maintenance is a required service under the 
Unrestricted Solicitation; however, this is a topic 
the BMO team is re-evaluating and will consider 
prior to releasing the final RFP.  

165

Please consider this an official request that 
this solicitation be set-aside for Small 
Business, Native American Owned, Women-
Owned Small Business, American Indian 
Owned, Service-Disabled Veteran Owned, 
Veteran Owned, EDWOSB, Women Owned 
businesses.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

166

To meet past performance criteria, we need to 
submit three relevant projects. Per draft RFP, 
each project can be located within the Contiguous 
United Stated to include Alaska and Hawaii (page 
137). Will you please clarify if the referenced 
projects can be OCONUS?

The intention is to see work experience done 
within the Contiguous United States including 
Alaska and Hawaii. Thank you for your comment. 
GSA has made note and will take this into 
consideration. Please stay connected to our BMO 
Interact site as we will be posting the most current 
information and changes regarding the updated 
RFP.

167

I would like  to determine if our services are 
needed under this requirement.  We are an 
information technology firm that provides cloud 
services, managed services, disaster recovery 
services, internet security services, data center 
services, internet access and telecommunications 
services.

The services you described are not within scope 
for the BMO's draft RFPs. Our solution focuses on 
building maintenance services. It does not include 
IT services other than those directly related to 
building management software or building 
automation services.

168

Services from the draft proposal (attached) lists 
HVAC, plumbing and pipefitting, and electrical 
maintenance as required services. Is it the 
intention to only entertain bidders that provide all 
three of the categories either by self-performing or 
by subcontracting or will you entertain bidders 
that only provide one of the three services?

There are required services that must be offered to 
be considered for an award. As posted in the draft 
RFP, the proposed required services for 
Operations and Maintenance are HVAC 
Maintenance, Plumbing and Pipefitting, and 
Electrical Maintenance (for the Small Business 
Solicitation). It is required that all three required 
services be provided in order to be considered for 
award. If you do not offer all of these services, you 
would need to work with another company, as 
specifically outlined in the draft RFPs, to provide 
all required services.

169

Are we able to bid on just the Pest Control portion 
of this, or would we need to work with a company 
that is submitting a proposal for all FSS services?

No. An offeror would not be able to provide only 
pest control services. Pest control is an "optional 
service" but in order to provide an optional service, 
offerors must also be able to provide all the 
"required services" under the Service Group in 
which they are submitting a proposal.

170

What zone will Alabama & Mississippi be in and 
when will another RFP be issued which includes 
those states?

At this time, it is unknown if the BMO will release 
additional zones, what those would be, or when 
that would occur. Updates to our BMO Solution will 
be announced on our GSA Interact webpage.

171 Have you considered adding security to BMO?

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

172 Is BMO a mandatory source for other agencies? The  BMO solution it is not a mandatory source. 

Questions Received at Industry Day



173
What marketing has been done to promote BMO 
to other agencies?

The BMO team has developed a marketing and 
communications plan to follow.  Additionally, a 
large portion of the BMO's marketing efforts have 
occurred through various avenues including the 
BMO Commodity Team (composed of 18 different 
customer agencies). Several of these agencies 
have committed to using the BMO solution. 

174
Is there a target number on how many awards you 
are looking at per zone? 

Yes there will be a target number of awards for 
each zone; however, at this time it, the number is 
unknown. 

175

Can a small business choose to compete on the 
unrestricted side and can they be 
selected/compete on both the small business set-
aside and unrestricted solicitations? 

Yes. Offerors classified as a small business under 
NAICS 561210 can submit under both small 
business and unrestricted solicitations and 
potentially be selected for award under each. 

176
Is Contract Access Fee (CAF) included in an 
offeror's pricing? 

No. Offerors do not include the CAF in their BMO 
pricing. The CAF will be a separate line item at the 
task order level that the customer pays. 

177

Will past performance of subcontractors count as 
relevant project experience? Additionally, will the 
relevant project experience count if you completed 
the work as a subcontractor. 

As a prime contractor, work that was subcontracted 
out and that you managed and were responsible 
for can count as relevant project experience. As a 
subcontractor, work that you performed does not 
count as relevant experience. 

178
Can you discuss ordering procedures on BMO vs. 
GSA Schedules and which applies. 

FAR Part 8,ordering procedures, applies to the 
GSA Schedules. FAR Part 8 does not apply to the 
BMO contract as BMO is not a Schedule contract. 
The ordering procedures that apply for the BMO 
contract are FAR Part 16.505, which is the fair 
opportunity process. 

179

If you are awarded a BMO contract as a small 
business under NAICS Code 561210 and two 
years into performance, your company grows 
beyond that size standard, does your small 
business size status remain for the base contract 
and then the five-year option? 

The small business size designation would remain 
in place under the BMO contract for the base 
period (first 5 years). Following the base period, 
the company's size status would be re-evaluated 
prior to issuance of any option. At that point, if you 
are no longer designated as a small business your 
company would be taken off the small business set-
aside contract and you would have the opportunity 
to provide an offer on the unrestricted contract via 
the on-ramping process. 

180

If you receive an award under the small business 
set-aside contract and an opportunity comes out 
that a customer has designated for the 
unrestricted contract, can you bid that work? No.

181

The small business size standard used under the 
BMO small business set-aside contract that 
governs business size is $38.5 Million (NAICS 
Code 561210). However, at the task order level, 
the users can potentially drill that into an HVAC 
NAICS Code of $12 million. Does that mean you 
no longer qualified as a small business because 
the customer used a different NAICS Code that 
lowered the small business size standard to $22 
Million? 

Yes. In this scenario you have given, that would be 
correct. At the task-order level, the Ordering 
Contracting Officer (OCO) at the customer 
agencies may utilize a different NAICS code for a 
specific type of BMO work potentially lowering the 
small business size standard for that specific task 
order.  

182

If the projects your firm has completed were 
performed longer than 5 years ago, can we use 
those to demonstrate relevant project experience? 

No. On the unrestricted solicitation, projects 
submitted for relevant project experience must 
have been completed within 3 years of the RFP 
closing date. On the small business solicitation, 
projects submitted for relevant project experience 
must have been completed within 5 years of the 
RFP closing date. 

183

The relevant project experience section of the 
Solicitation was geared more towards buildings 
and the work completed inside those buildings. 
There is a lot of BMO work completed on entire 
military installations. When a company services 
the entire (or a large portion) of the installation, 
how do we provide the required building 
information. The 1000 word limit could be a 
problem. 

The square footage section does not count against 
the 1000 word limit of the services description.  
However, we are taking comments on expanding 
the word limit and will take this into consideration.

184

You mentioned that every agency will have an 
opportunity to use this. Does that mean that, for 
example, the Army Public Works Director can 
utilize this if they wanted to expedite the 
procurement process?

Yes. Agencies can use the BMO solution as long 
as their Ordering Contracting Officer has obtained 
a Delegation of Authority from the BMO office.

185

On the past performance, I believe you said three, 
but there's multiple categories. Does your past 
performance like for bids on HVAC have to all be 
HVAC? It doesn't have to touch all the 
categories? No. It does not.

186

If a subcontractor is used, do we have the past 
performance review submitted for that 
subcontractor to show they can perform the work? 

Each of the three past performance evaluations 
submitted shall be completed by the end user 
(customer) and completed for the offeror (prime), 
not the subcontractor. 

187

If separate solicitations are released for Zones 2 
through 6, please stagger the release dates so 
they are not all due at the same time. 

Thank you for your comment. This will be taken 
into consideration. 



188

Zone 6 includes many states. If I concentrate my 
work in Illinois, would I still be eligible to submit 
an offer for Zone 6.  

To qualify for zone, an offeror must be able to 
demonstrate their company can successfully 
perform work in the entire zone. If your company 
has not in the past and/or does not currently 
perform work in the entire zone but is willing to,  
you would have to show how your company could 
deliver to all of the states in that zone. 

189

With my mentor protégé agreement, can you use 
them in this procurement tooling? As a GSA 
Schedule Holder I have that mentor protégé, does 
the mentor have to be on this procurement tool 
also?

We do not believe that a mentor-protégé 
agreement would meet the definition of an 
acceptable arrangement in accordance with FAR 
9.601(1) as required by the solicitation.

190

Has BMO been officially rolled out to the 
end‑user, Contracting Officers, facility people, 
and government sites?

Both Zone 1 solicitations have been awarded and 
announced publicly.

191

Is there going to be definitions and guideline 
specific to what GSA tool bests suits the 
customers needs? As an example GSA Schedule 
03FAC Contract vs. GSA BMO Contract. 

Ordering Contracting Officers have the authority 
and discretion to do what is in the best interest for 
their agency. To assist customers in determining 
which government-wide vehicle best fits their 
needs, the GSA is developing the Acquisition 
Gateway. (https://hallways.cap.gsa.gov/login-
information?utm_campaign=Spring-
Training&utm_source=Amazing-
Armadillos&utm_medium=email&utm_content=refe
r-a-friend) 

192

Can you please explain how pricing works at the 
parent contract level as well as at the task-order 
level. 

For non-exempt (SCLS) labor categories, at the 
parent contract level, for evaluation purposes, an 
offeror will submit their fully burdened rates giving 
a breakdown of the base rate, G&A, overhead, 
other costs, and profit. All elements of this 
breakdown, except for the base rate, shall remain 
unchanged (as percentages) when submitting 
proposals at the task order level. At the task order 
level, the base rate can change with the prevailing 
wage rate, collective bargaining agreement, etc. 

193

Regarding on-ramping and off-ramping, can a 
vendor float between both unrestricted and the 
small business solicitation? As an example, if you 
are awarded a contract for the unrestricted 
solicitation as a large business, and at some point 
in the five year base period, your average three 
year revenue falls down below the $38.5 million 
threshold, will your company have the ability to 
now go into the small business set-aside 
solicitation. Visa-versa, if you're awarded the 
small business solicitation and you company is 
super successful increasing your average 3-year 
revenue above the $38.5 million threshold making 
you a large business, will you be on-ramped to 
the unrestricted solicitation?

If a small business changes size from small to 
large, they can on-ramp to the Unrestricted 
Contract at option time if they meet all the 
requirements of the Unrestricted Solicitation.  If a 
large business becomes small, they can still stay 
on the Unrestricted Contract as a small business.

194 Who generates the task order? Is it the OCO?
Yes. The customer agency's Ordering Contracting 
Officer (OCO) generates the task order. 

195
How are task orders published? Is it on Fed Biz 
Opps (FBO)?

Ordering Contracting Officers (OCOs) can post 
task order solicitations on eBuy  or they can go out 
to the BMO website, observe the list of BMO 
vendors who qualified for the services needed and 
send the task order out to all those eligible 
vendors.

196

The criteria for BMO awards at the parent contract 
level is Highest Technically Rated with a Fair and 
Reasonable Price and not Lowest Price 
Technically Acceptable (LPTA).  Are task orders 
awarded/selected in the same manner? 

At the task order level, there are restrictions on 
how awards are evaluated. It is up to the Ordering 
Contracting Officer (OCO). 

197

How many awards do you anticipate for this small 
business and unrestricted solicitations? 
Additionally are proposal submitted for each 
zone? 

At this time, the number of awards made for both 
the small business set-aside solicitation and 
unrestricted solicitation is unknown. This 
information will be provided in Final RFP. 

198

How would we submit a proposal for work that we 
would do but haven't had the opportunity to do 
before such as elevator service. What would you 
like to see in the proposal? 

What we're looking for is companies that know how 
to perform well  and have done so in the past for 
the services being proposed.  We recognize 
vendors may subcontract specialty type work such 
as elevator and fire alarm maintenance. If you 
have been the prime on a contract before where 
you subbed those areas out, you can use those 
projects for the relevant project experience section. 
The other option is to form a formal relationship 
with vendors who do perform that type of work 
either through a joint venture or a meaningful 
relationship commitment letter, if possible, given 
restrictions provided in the solicitation. 



199

It was mentioned that if a company didn't not meet 
all the service category requirements, it could 
partner. Is this a simple as adding subcontractors 
to your subcontracting plan or do you have do  a 
joint venture? 

If your company has not performed all the required 
services in the past and therefore cannot 
demonstrate successful performance in the 
relevant project experience section, to be able to 
qualify your company would have to either have a 
joint venture in place prior to submitting an offer or 
provide a meaningful relationship commitment 
letter following the restrictions provided in the 
solicitation.

200
How did you arrive at the required service 
categories?

Required services were established based on the 
services customer's order together most 
frequently.  This was determined by a working 
group of 18 different customer agencies.

201

Other Direct Costs (ODCs) has been a challenge 
with older facilities contracts. Can you discuss 
how BMO is handling ODCs compared to 
Schedule 03FAC?

ODCs for Schedule 03FAC are challenging as all 
products and services (as ODCs) have to be 
priced upfront. For 03FAC, this means it has to be 
on your Schedule contract before you can bid it at 
the task order level. This is an issue because it is 
hard to know all the products or services you might 
need in the future.  BMO is structured where each 
customer can use their individual agency's ODC 
threshold to define an ODC item and anything 
below that threshold could be designated as an  
ODC.  

202

A large majority of vendors in this industry have 
not provided elevator services as this is often 
contracted out to specific elevator companies. 
Since this is the case, it doesn't make sense to 
exclude all the qualified vendors capable of 
providing all the other services mentioned in this 
vehicle from competing. The BMO team should 
reconsider the elevator requirement for the 
unrestricted solicitation. 

Thank you for your comment. This will be taken 
into consideration. 

203

You said that on the BMO website a matrix will be 
available to customers showing the BMO 
awardees and the services each awardee can 
provide. Is this matrix going to be available to the 
winners of the contracts as well?

Yes. This BMO website and this matrix will be 
public information.

204

If a task order asks for 5 services (ex. HVAC, 
electrical, plumbing, janitorial, and pest control) 
only vendors who offer all of those 5 services 
would be notified correct? 

Yes, this is correct. Only those vendors that offer 
all five of the requested services in the task order 
would be given fair opportunity to compete. 

205
How do you arrive/determine a fair and 
reasonable pricing?

The team will look at your proposed fully burdened 
rates and determine an acceptable range for each 
labor category based on factors such as the 
pricing of your the BMO competitors and other 
pricing available in the market. Additionally, as 
stated in the solicitation, it is BMO's intent to award 
without discussions so proposals should contain  
your best offer. 

206

After awards are made, if vendors do not meet the 
minimum task order awards (3 for SB and 5 for 
Unrestricted in the 5-year base period) or the 
minimum task order award value ($325K for SB 
and $1.25M for unrestricted), is consideration 
given to how many times a vendor competes for 
task order awards and was simply unsuccessful?  

The removal of a vendor from the contract is at the 
discretion of the BMO contracting officer. The goal 
of these minimum requirements are to encourage 
vendor engagement throughout the life of the 
contract. 

207

Following awards, are  ordering guidelines going 
to be released instruction what contract review 
actions have already been completed at the 
parent contract level.  For example, why should I 
have to re-submit past performance and 
experience information at the task order level. I've 
already done that and proven my company is 
capable of successfully performing this work. Not 
having to resubmit this type of information 
seriously streamline the process at the task‑order 
level, making it easier on vendors and customers.

Some customers have agency specific 
requirements where past performance information 
must be included at the task order level. What 
each agency requires at the task order level is out 
of our control. However, when marketing BMO to 
customers and training them on how to use the 
contract, this type of information will be provided 
as advantages to utilizing the BMO Solution. 

208

What if a customer agency doesn't fall in one of 
the identified zones (2-6)? Is there an opportunity 
for them to use BMO? For example, customers 
located in Colorado? 

Currently, Zones 1 through 6 are in the works 
covering the following locations/states. (DC, VA, 
MD, PA, DE, NY, NJ, WV
, MA, CT, NH, VT, ME, RI, FL, GA, NC, SC
, TX, OK, CA, NV, MO, IL, IA, NE, KS
) Additional locations may be added during 
subsequent phases of the solution; however, these 
are unknown at this time. Customers located in 
areas outside of Zones 1-6 would not be able to 
use the solution until their location is added. 

209
Will the Acquisition Gateway be available to 
everyone or only BMO contractors?

It will be open to everyone.  All government-wide 
contracts will be posted there. 

210

If you're submitting a proposal for both O&M and 
FSS, under the O&M there is a 1000 word limit in 
the description of the services.  Can the word limit 
be extended or should you submit projects that 
are separate for FSS and O&M?

Thank you for your comment. This will be taken 
into consideration. 



211

When we are submitting our pricing, are all 
vendors going to be using that San Francisco 
wage determination?

Yes for Zone 5 (California, Nevada), all vendors 
will be using the same wage determination which is 
San Francisco. This is considered the highest 
wage determination for this zone and will allow all 
vendors pricing to be reviewed on an "apples to 
apples" basis.  However, different wage 
determinations will be used at the task order level 
depending on where the work is to be done.

212

As a small, woman-owned business, do we have 
to use a subcontractor in order to submit a 
proposal for this RFP?

It depends on what services your company can 
provide.  There are certain required services under 
each Service Group.  If your company can provide 
all of the required services for a specific group on 
its own, then a subcontractor/JV/partner company 
is not required.  However, if your company cannot 
provide all of the required services on its own you 
would need a subcontractor, JV, or partner 
company that could provide the remaining required 
service(s) in order to qualify for award.  Each 
individual company's situation may be different so 
for a specific circumstance you may want to 
contact us directly with the specifics of your 
situation.

213
Can we submit a proposal on more than one 
zone?

Yes, you can submit a proposal for as many zones 
as you can provide services for.  

214

In the labor categories mapping system, is there 
room for labor categories that we may not have in 
there?

Yes, please refer to the instructions on the Price 
Template Attachment J.9.

215

For Zone 1 the anticipated number of awards for 
unrestricted was 10 and for small business was 
40.  Is that the same anticipated number of 
awards for the next zones?

We don't have the numbers yet for the other 
zones.  Part of that determination will depend on 
the responses we get from industry letting us know 
what the vendor base and it's capabilities look like.

216

For the extra evaluation points for work done in 
multiple states within the zone, is there a time limit 
restriction on how long ago the work was done?

Yes, the credit is given based on the projects 
submitted and the projects are required to have 
been performed within certain timeframes: three 
years or ongoing for Unrestricted and five years or 
ongoing for Small Business.

217

Is the six month minimum performance 
requirement for ongoing contracts applicable to 
small businesses?

The performance requirement for ongoing contract 
is set at twelve (12) months for both small and 
other than small businesses. This will be detailed 
in the Final Solicitation.

218

Will the 2% Contract Access Fee be reduced for 
certain customers with Memorandum Of 
Understanding (MOU's)?

At this point in time, no.  However, as we roll out 
more zones we may get more commitments that 
will allow us to look at lowering the fee and doing a 
Memorandum of Understanding with certain 
agencies.

219

Will there ever be a time when the BMO contracts 
or BMO contract requirement would overlap with 
03FAC Schedule Contracts?

Probably, 03FAC Schedule Contracts are another 
multiple-award tool that our customers can use.  
There are differences between the two vehicles 
regarding how Other Direct Costs (ODCs) can be 
used, zonal approach v. nationwide, etc.  It's really 
going to be up to our customers to decide which 
vehicle will best meet their needs for a particular 
acquisition.  Some agencies have policies in place 
regarding what vehicles they will consider first, it 
really will depend on the customer and their needs 
for a particular acquisition.  

220

Will the RFPs for the next zones be staggered in 
their release or will they all be posted and due at 
the same time?

We have not yet determine when each zone's 
RFPs will be released, if they will be staggered or 
done at the same time.

221

Has BMO looked at ways a firm submitting 
proposals on multiple zones could submit 
common information once?

These are all separate contracts and that could get 
messy.  If you have ideas on this please submit 
them and we will consider that.

222

Has BMO thought about having some kind of 
wizard or an easier template to fill out some of the 
parts of the proposal?

Unfortunately, we do not have an electronic system 
of any kind to put this through.  So it has made it 
challenging for all parties.  That is something we 
are constantly trying to find, an easier way to do 
things especially the Relevant Project Experience 
Template.  If you have any feedback for us on this, 
how it could be easier or make more sense, we 
would love to hear it.

223
Regarding Fair Opportunity, there can be no sole 
source task orders?

Under Fair Opportunity, if there are ten companies 
that do a particular service the customer would be 
required to send the notice to all ten of those 
companies.

224

Schedules ordering procedures puts the onus 
back on the contractors to go out and market their 
services (their schedule contract to customers).  
How will BMO be marketing to customers to 
promote the BMO vendors?

BMO will maintain the matrix of awarded vendors 
on GSA Advantage E-Library, the list of awarded 
vendors will also be posted on the BMO website.  
We will offer training to our customers promoting 
BMO as well.



225

The ODC issue has been a pretty big stumbling 
block on the GSA Schedules Contracts and if 
sounds like for BMO there will still be ODC 
thresholds.  A blown chiller could exceed a 
$2,500/$25,000 threshold in nothing flat.  It limits 
a single-source solution, because it means 
another procurement and frustration on the end-
users part.  Is there a discussion about how we 
might be able to handle that?

We don't have a solution to that at this point 
because we can't override our customer agencies' 
ODC thresholds and policies.  However, we are 
always looking into ways to solve these types of 
problems.  We will see if we can find some lessons 
learned throughout other agencies and see how 
they have dealt with it.  We are restricted to the 
rules of the FAR. This is an important issue that we 
are trying to find a way to resolve.

226

How will BMO ensure compliance with the 
overhead, G&A, profit rates staying under the 
ceiling rates for the contract?

This will be something that will be checked at the 
task order level by the ordering contracting officer.  
They will report any discrepancies to the BMO 
Contracting Officer.  At the parent contract level, 
we will also have visibility into prices charged at 
the task order level so we will be able to monitor 
compliance there as well. 

227

If you are using a subcontractor they may not 
want to disclose their overhead, G&A, profit to the 
prime so how can you remain in compliance with 
the contract?

The contract is between the Government and the 
Prime Contractor not the sub-contractor.  
Therefore, it's the prime contractor's responsibility 
to charge what it says in the contract.  If the 
subcontractor tries to charge you more than what 
has been agreed upon in your contract that is 
between the Prime and Sub not between the 
Government and Sub.

228

We are more familiar with the GSA Schedule 
Contractors and "Most Favored Customer" 
pricing.  How is that different from what we are 
doing for the BMO IDIQ pricing?

Most Favored Customer pricing is when the 
Government asks for the pricing that the vendor 
would offer to their "most favored customer".  We 
are not necessarily asking for that with BMO.  We 
ask for your Government and Commercial pricing 
as a reference.  With BMO, we are looking at the 
overall fully burdened rate and trying to determine 
if it is fair and reasonable.  

229

Will the solicitations have separate set-asides for 
service-disabled, veteran-owned small business 
or other specific socioeconomic categories?

It will depend on the information we get back from 
our market research and the questionnaires we 
receive.  We will determine that based on Industry 
Feedback.  Also at the task order level, the 
ordering contracting officer can always conduct 
their own set-aside.

230
Is a teaming relationship, which is different than a 
joint venture, something that a vendor can do?

Under the BMO joint ventures and a Meaningful 
Relationship Commitment Letter can be used. 
Please see Section H of the Solicitation for details. 
Contractor Teaming Arrangements as defined at 
FAR 9.601(1) are acceptable, those defined at 
FAR 9.601(2) are not. 

231

For the Meaningful Relationship Commitment 
Letters (MRCL), if you have a partner where they 
did a project and you want to use that experience 
but you weren't part of that project (not prime or 
sub), can you use that company's experience?

Please refer to Section H.12 of the Draft 
Solicitation for details regarding the MRCLs. 
Following the MRCL restrictions, then yes, if you 
submitted a Meaningful Relationship Commitment 
Letter with that company you can use their 
experience.

232

With regard to required financial information, if 
you have a partner or MRCL, what's the proper 
way to make sure the financial information is 
submitted and accepted?  If you have unified 
resources, et cetera, how would you handle that?  
If you don't have the capacity and ability alone?

In the MRCL section it asks within your partnership 
what resources will you be using of that other 
company's.  Financial Statements are only 
required for the company submitting the offer for a 
MRCL.

233

If another company's employee managed a 
project, his company was the one who got the 
work as the prime, can you use that experience of 
the employee?

No. The Government only has privity of contract 
with the prime contractors.  

234
Are all the solicitations for the new zones going to 
be published simultaneously or staggered?

We have not yet determined when each zone's 
RFPs will be released, if they will be staggered or 
done at the same time.

235

With regard to MRCL's, is there a required 
timeframe for how long the relationship has to 
have been in place for it to be accepted?

No there is not.  The only requirement is that the 
relationship is established prior to the proposal 
being submitted.

236

Explain more about the fully-burdened rate.  The 
accounting department at our company doesn't 
like to break it down like it is required on the price 
template, it isn't a normal company practice.

We would recommend talking with the accounting 
department and see if they can come up with the 
breakdown.  In our research from Zone 1 we 
learned, that the company has an overhead rate, a 
G&A rate, profit rate.  So that information should 
be available.  If you have feedback or suggestions 
on another way to handle that please submit that 
as well. 

237
Is there a bonding capacity agreement required 
on this contract or at the task order level?  

We are not requiring bonding at our level.  If that's 
needed at the task order level, they will ask for it at 
the task order level. 

238

Are we asking for certified cost accounting 
systems, purchasing systems, estimating systems 
in accordance with the Defense Contract 
Management Agency (DCMA)? No we are not. 

239 Is there a standard profit margin?

No there isn't a standard profit margin that we are 
looking for.  At our level, we are going to end up 
looking at your fully-burdened rates for the wage 
determination given to see if it's fair and 
reasonable. We are using the profit submitted as 
the ceiling for profit that the company can use for 
task orders.



240

If you have a partner you are working with to 
provide a specific service and you have a falling 
out with that partner, what's the process for 
getting that partner replaced?

Privity of contract is between the Government and 
the Prime. Please refer to M.4.1.4 and M.4.1.5 of 
the Draft Solicitation.

241

Are we required to use Defense Contract Audit 
Agency (DCAA) approved overhead rates?  If 
your approved DCAA rates change, is there an 
escalation clause in the contract?

You are not required to use DCAA approved 
overhead rates, but you can. If you choose to do 
so, at the task order level, your overhead rates 
have to be at or below your agreed upon BMO 
overhead rates.  For Non-SCLS services, you will 
propose a set escalation rate at the IDIQ level.   

242

If we award to certain vendors, are we going to 
invite them all to a pre-bid conference to bid a 
certain building or are we going to post on FBO?

We will be awarding multiple contracts at our level 
that are not for any specific requirement.  The 
customers will have to decide if they want to use 
this vehicle for their requirements. It is not a 
mandatory source.  If they decide to use this 
vehicle, they would send out their solicitation to all 
vendors that are qualified to provide the services 
they need.  So if they only wanted HVAC services 
for their building, they would send it out to 
everybody who had HVAC services on their 
contract.

243

Between now and the final RFP, if there are any 
changes to the states included in each zone how 
are those changes going to be accounted for?

This is a draft solicitation only.  We are not 
wanting proposals or pricing submitted at this 
point.  We are only asking for the questionnaires, 
questions, and feedback at this point.  We will take 
that feedback and use it to decide if any changes 
need to be made to the zones or the solicitation.    
We will post any changes made to the 
solicitation/zones on our Interact site before we 
issue the final RFP.  The changes will also be 
made in the final RFP which is when you would 
actually submit your proposal and pricing.

244 How can you get awarded for Zone 1?

It is too late at this point to be considered for Zone 
1 as we are currently doing source selection.  
However, we will monitor demand and vendor 
levels for Zone 1.  We will look at that in a year, 
year and a half, to see if we need to open the 
solicitation back up for on-ramping opportunities to 
add new vendors.  So there could be more 
opportunities in Zone 1, we are not sure yet.  

245

At the task order level if the contractor is using 
sub-contractors that we weren't award of at the 
parent contract level, how will that be handled? 
You'll be evaluating with their MRCL's and sub-
contractors as well?

This would be two different scenarios and 
answers. If a company qualified for all the services 
on their own, then we are not going to ask them 
who their subcontractors are going to be.  So if 
they want to use subcontractors at the task order 
level, of course you can definitely ask them what 
subcontractors they're going to use, if any.  If 
they're using some kind of "meaningful 
relationship" to qualify at the parent contract level, 
then they will have to have submitted a MRCL to 
tell us who that would be.  

246

Under fair opportunity, if a customer puts out a 
task order solicitation there may be some 
contractors who say "I can find a sub to do that 
service" and there will be companies that 
specialize in that service themselves.  How does 
the customer handle the use of subcontractors in 
this scenario?  

For example, if the customer is looking for fire 
alarm services and goes out to all the companies 
that are shown as qualified for fire alarm services 
but then another company (not shown as qualified) 
hears about it and says, "well I can do that", the 
customer doesn't have to consider that specific 
vendor because they don't have that service 
awarded as part of their BMO contract.

247

Some companies may already have employees 
that have clearances for certain facilities or 
certain agencies.  How do we handle customers 
with security clearance requirements if not all 
companies already have the clearances? 

At the parent contract level we don't require any 
facility clearances or people to have security 
clearances. If that is required at the task order 
level, the agencies will dictate that to you. 

248

So let's say there are fifteen awards and you have 
a customer with a security clearance requirement 
that wants HVAC services.  There are fifteen 
awardees that can provide those services but only 
five of those have clearances already, would the 
customer only have to go to those five instead of 
all fifteen?

The customer would still have to provide the 
solicitation to all companies that can offer that 
service under fair opportunity.  The customer 
would generally allow a certain time period for their 
employees to obtain those clearances.  It will 
depend on the situation, but the customers will 
usually allow the vendors the opportunities to 
obtain the required clearances.

249

If you submit and qualify for the required services 
and receive an award at the IDIQ level, could you 
add optional services later by modification?

Yes, you will be able to add services by 
modification at a later time.

250

Looking at the solicitation from Zone 1, it seems 
to indicate that you cannot use the experience of 
another company in a meaningful relationship 
commitment letter in order to qualify for those 
services.

In accordance with H.12 of the Draft Solicitation, 
an MRCL is for affiliates, divisions, or subsidiaries 
within a Contractor's internal corporate structure.  



251

Regarding MRCL, for small businesses who may 
only offer janitorial services but may want to 
partner with someone in a meaningful relationship 
to provide some other service outside of what they 
themselves can offer; just want to make sure that 
small businesses aren't excluded from having 
those opportunities to grow?????

We do our best to provide opportunities for small 
businesses within these vehicles.  Any MRCL or 
partnership would have to meet the requirements 
provided in H.12 of the Draft Solicitation to be 
acceptable.

252

At the task order level can an agency do a set-
aside for a woman-owned small business or an 8a 
sole source?

A set-aside can be done for woman-owned or 
competitive 8(a). An 8(a) sole source cannot be 
done under the BMO. 

253
Do you have any idea of how many awards you 
plan on doing for each zone?

Not yet, we will post that information when we 
figure it out.  We will look at the spend, number of 
vendors, work available and a lot of other data 
points to make that determination.  

254
Once the final solicitation is posted, how long are 
you going to give us to respond?

That will depend on a number of factors, such as 
whether we post all the solicitations at the same 
time or stagger them so we can make sure 
everyone has enough time. For Zone 1 we started 
with 45 days and then ended up extending to 60 
days.  However, it will really depend on a number 
of different factors.

255

Can we use MATOCs as relevant past 
performance?  Use the whole MATOC document 
and all the services that you did under that as 
opposed to an individual order underneath it?

MATOCs means: multiple award task order 
contracts.  Each contract/task order is a separate 
project. However, in the narrative of the Relative 
Project Experience Template it could be noted that 
several contracts/task orders were done in the 
same facility and managed by "one common 
contract manager, quality manager, safety 
manager, etc."

256

For a small business or new business with limited 
past performance, what kind of substitutions can 
you use for past performance?

Please refer to section Past Performance section 
of the draft solicitation.

257
Will you allow past performance from a GSA 
schedule contract? Yes.

258
Do you see a certain format at the task order level 
for proposals?

We will have templates that we post to our website 
for contracting officers to use but they will not be 
required.  They may have their own formats that 
they want to use.

259 Is the contract access fee negotiable?

Not at this time, but later down the road we may 
put something into place where we can negotiate a 
lower CAF in exchange for a higher commitment 
from a certain agency.

260
Will this vehicle be replacing any of the vehicles 
out in this space right now?

It will not be replacing the Multiple Award 
Schedule, 03FAC.  That is a different tool.  We 
cannot tell you if there are any specific contracts 
that it will be replacing.  What could happen is that 
a contract could be expiring for these services and 
an agency may decide to use this for a future 
contract instead of going back out on their own.  
So it's not going to replace any specific 
government-wide multiple award contracts that are 
out there.  

261 There's no commitment range for some agencies?

We do have some commitments from agencies, it's 
not all of their spend, and it's not for specific 
buildings, locations, or contracts.

262
On Zone 1 there were restrictions about paying 
for travel, will this be the same for the next zones?

There is a little flexibility at the task order level.  If 
the contracting officer feels it's justified, they can 
approve it.  You would have to address this at the 
task order level, what provisions would you allow 
for travel because of xyz?"  But the intent is that a 
vendor awarded to a specific zone should be able 
to provide coverage to that entire zone without 
incurring travel expenses for the contract.

263
Does BMO foresee this becoming a schedule 
vehicle?

No we do not.  BMO has built in some flexibilities 
for this vehicle that are not available through the 
schedule contracts in order to provide a different 
tool for our customers to be able to choose which 
best fits their needs.

264

You said you were awarding forty contracts.  Do 
you have a percentage of the socioeconomic 
groups represented in that award number?  Also, 
at the task order level can the contracting officer 
issue sole source 8a or Service-Disabled Veteran-
Owned small business contracts?

The forty contracts reference was the anticipated 
award number for Zone 1's small business awards.  
We do not yet know the number of awards for the 
next zones.  We also do not have a percentage of 
socioeconomic group awards because we could 
not anticipate who we would be getting proposals 
from.  We built in evaluation factors that would 
allow socio-economic groups to obtain additional 
evaluation points for each category that they fall 
under. You can not do an 8(a) sole source but you 
can do a competitive 8(a) set-aside.  Please refer 
to FAR 19.1406 for sole-source requirements 
under the SDVOSB Program.  



265

As an 03FAC schedule holder we were told that if 
OCO's used schedules, could select at a minimum 
three vendors and this fulfilled their market 
research/competition requirements. Does BMO do 
the same thing?

Under BMO, Ordering Contracting officers (OCOs) 
will use the ordering procedures from FAR 16.505 
instead of the ordering procedures from FAR 8.4 
which Schedules utilize. FAR 16.505 details Fair 
Opportunity. Under Fair Opportunity, the OCO 
would provide the task order solicitation to all BMO 
companies that offer the service or group of 
services specified in the task order.  

266
Does the subcontractor have to be registered in 
SAM

No, the subcontractor does not have to registered 
in SAM. This is because privity of contract is with 
the prime contractor and not the subcontractor. 

267
Can the same project be used for all five zones for 
the relevant project experience requirement? Yes

268
Is there extra credit for the project being in a zone 
if it's not multiple states in the zone?

No. The project has to cover at least two different 
locations (states) in that zone to receive extra 
evaluation credit.

269

The subcontracting plan will ask for dollar 
amounts and if you we don't know what the dollar 
amount is. 

Please refer to the Final Zone 2-6 RFPs for the 
contract dollar value. 

270

Is there a vehicle or something in place to help a 
small company that may be starting out in federal 
business to basically pair up with a prime 
contractor?

All small business that are new to government 
contracting need to work with the small business 
development center. One is available in every 
state. The center can help point you in the right 
direction. GSA's Office of Small Business 
Utilization recommends that you work with the 
Procurement Technical Assistance Center or P-
TAC  who can assist the offerors with putting 
together proposals as well as  translate a lot of the 
government terminology. 

271

There is a list of labor categories allowable under 
the BMO contract. If a labor category comes up in 
a task order that is not already listed how is that 
handled? 

Please refer to the Instructions on the Price 
Template Attachment J.9.

272

For the Zone 1 release, in the sustainability plan 
where you ask for minimums and if vendors go 
above and beyond minimums.  Here, it wasn't 
clear what the minimums were?

This is something that will be addressed in the final 
RFPs. 

273

Is a HubZone FAR applicable to this solicitation? 
And is the HubZone section
 of the FAR applicable to this regarding the price 
evaluation
 preference? What about regarding a set-aside

No to the price evaluation preference. For the set-
aside, this would be up to each individual agency 
and occur at the task order level. 

274

If the electrical contractor were somehow to 
incorporate plumbing as experience from a 
subcontractor, how would that be evaluated? 

We know that companies subcontract out work and 
that is allowable. For evaluation purposes, what we 
are looking for are companies that have either 
performed the work as a prime or have at least 
been the prime responsible for that work. 

275

In phase one, we've got three blanket 
percentages which we had to apply to all the labor 
categories and reality we find that those 
percentages vary depending on the labor 
category and the type of work being done. Would 
you consider unlocking those
 fields so that we can vary those and give you a
 more accurate document.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

276

It was difficult for us to understand in the first one 
exactly what we were pricing. Am I pricing an 
HVAC technician, he just shows up and you guys 
have the tools and insurance and all that or we 
bring that to the table so I was wondering would 
you consider putting a scenario out there and then 
we can say well under these given sets of 
assumptions, this is the labor rate.

Thank you for your comment. GSA has made note 
and will take this into consideration. Please stay 
connected to our BMO Interact site as we will be 
posting the most current information and changes 
regarding the updated RFP.

277 Could you explain the elevator asterisk?

On the unrestricted solicitation (open to large and 
small), elevator maintenance is a required service. 
In order to qualify for an unrestricted award, your 
company has to show and demonstrate your 
experience in HVAC, plumbing and pipe fitting, 
electrical maintenance and elevator maintenance. 
A company bidding under unrestricted does not 
have to not self-perform the elevator maintenance, 
but must demonstrate they have successfully acted 
as the prime on a contract where it has been 
subbed out. 

278

If small businesses have not offered elevator 
services or qualified for elevator maintenance 
services, can they bid it on a task order? No.

279

We're a service disabled veteran owned small 
business, physical security service providers. Is 
there a physical security services requirement?

No, not the way we have it written now. That may 
be something that we get feedback on for other 
zones.

280

For the relevant project experience section, I see 
that submitting commercial projects is allowable. 
Can vendors use residential projects also?

BMO is a commercial contract; Therefore 
residential projects submitted for the relevant 
project experience section would not be allowable. 



281
Is there a long term plan for getting to where 
agencies have to use BMO?

The mandatory use of BMO is not governed by our 
team . This is something the Office of Management 
and Budget (OMB) would have to implement. Each 
agency has the opportunity to make it mandatory 
within their agency.  

282

A customer has existing contracts to perform in a 
building that expire this summer. Would the 
customer be forced to go to BMO after that or can 
they extend what they currently were using and 
issue a new one?

Customers can keep doing what they're doing and 
exercise an option to extend your contract. Or, 
they could choose to go out and issue a new 
contract to keep doing it the way they were doing it 
before. Like we said, BMO is not mandatory. Each 
agency (contracting officer or their office) is going 
to have to make the decision as to what is best for 
them. Even some agencies that do encourage the 
use of strategic sourcing vehicles have exceptions. 
Some agencies may have urgent and compelling 
exceptions where they have to do something 
different. There is a lot of different scenarios of 
what is best for that office.

283

What are some measures that the GSA is taking 
to market this contract to contracting officers and 
other agencies?

The BMO team has developed a marketing and 
communications plan to follow.  Additionally, a 
large portion of the BMO's marketing efforts have 
occurred through several avenues including the 
BMO Commodity Team (composed of 18 different 
customer agencies). Several of these agencies 
have committed to using the BMO solution. 

284
Should a company get awarded, how often should 
they promote as well?

It wouldn't be anything different than your normal 
business plan, that you think would be successful 
within your footprint. 

285
Is there a year period of performance on this 
contract?

There is a five-year base and a five-year option. 
When task orders are placed in the final year of 
that option the period of performance for the 
vendor could potentially be extended beyond the 
option period.  

286

Is the Davis Bacon wage determination 
incorporated for minor alterations at the task order 
level?

Yes, if the Construction Wage Rate Requirements 
statute (formerly known as Davis Bacon) is needed 
for minor repair and alterations at the task order 
level, the ordering contract officer will incorporate 
those. BMO has allowed for that.

287

Now historically, GSA has not been very friendly 
or had a history of a lot of opportunity for us other 
than construction supervision. What you have 
indicated as far as I see is primarily maintenance 
and repair tasks. Are there any construction tasks 
that will be associated with this and if so, is 
boding required to participate in this program?

In the scope of BMO services, we have a lot of 
maintenance and repair, preventive maintenance. 
BMO doesn't have specific construction tasks 
listed. It should be minor. Basically it should be 
ancillary to the primary purpose of the work. BMO 
has allowed for Davis Bacon in the sense that 
sometimes you need Davis Bacon for painting, 
sometimes you need it for drywall. Those minor 
things could be done. Bonding is not required to 
bid on it because it isn't included as a BMO 
requirement.

288 Why wouldn't bmo include bonding?

We have insurance requirements but the bonding 
may or may not be necessary and we felt like that 
was an additional burden to require, especially on 
small businesses in order to propose on this when 
it may or may not be necessary at the task order 
level.


